Food Security Indicators

Review of Literature





Prepared for the BC Centre for Disease Control (BCCDC)

Drona Rasali, Director, Population Health Surveillance & Epidemiology, BCCDC, Provincial Health Services Authority

Authors:

Barbara Seed, PhD, B. Seed Consulting

Contributing Authors:

Melanie Kurrein, MA, RD, Provincial Manager, Food Security, Population & Public Health, BCCDC, Provincial Health Services Authority Cayley Velazquez, PhD, Consultant Karen Rideout, PhD, Consultant Caitlin Dorward, M.Sc., A.Ag., Consultant

Resource team:

Cayley Velazquez, PhD, Consultant Karen Rideout, PhD, Consultant Caitlin Dorward, M.Sc., A.Ag., Consultant Mary-Doug Wright, B.Sc., MLS, Apex Information (research librarian)

Acknowledgements:

Melanie Kurrein, Provincial Manager Food Security, Crystal Li, Surveillance Biostatistician, Population & Public Health, BCCDC, Provincial Health Services Authority

Drona Rasali, Director,

Population Health Surveillance & Epidemiology, BCCDC, Provincial Health Services Authority

Rita Zhang, Epidemiologist,

Population Health Surveillance & Epidemiology, BCCDC, Provincial Health Services Authority

Advisory Committee:

Jennifer Black, University of British Columbia Sylvia El Kurdi, Interior Health Authority Maritia Gully, Island Health Authority Ashley Henry, First Nations Health Authority Dee Hoyano, Island Health Authority Eleni Kefalas, Vancouver Coastal Health Authority Jong Kim, Northern Health Authority

Population Health Surveillance & Epidemiology, BCCDC, Provincial Health Services Authority

Daniel Fong, Manager, Knowledge Translation and Communications, Population & Public Health, BCCDC, Provincial Health Services Authority

Henry Lau, Coordinator, Healthy Eating and Food Security, Population & Public Health, BCCDC, Provincial Health Services Authority

Charles Levkoe, Lakehead University Catherine Mah, Dalhousie University Kent Mullinix, Kwantlan Polytechnic University Elaine Power, Queen's University Ingrid Tyler, Fraser Health Authority Anna Wren, Ministry of Health Kathleen Yung, First Nations Health Authority

BCCDC contact:

This report can be found at: http://www.bccdc.ca/our-services/service-areas/population-public-health

For further information contact: BC Centre for Disease Control Population & Public Health 655 West 12th Avenue Vancouver, B.C. V5Z 4R4 melanie.kurrein@bccdc.ca

Suggested citation:

BC Centre for Disease Control. (2019). *Food Security Indicators: Review of Literature.* Vancouver, B.C.: BC Centre for Disease Control, Population & Public Health.

Table of contents

Executive Summary
Project background
Project overview
Methods
Methods overview
Advisory committee
Results: Summary of indicator areas14
Theme: Individual and household food insecurity.14Theme: Food environments.17Theme: Food system resilience.20Theme: Influencing policy.23
Conclusion and next steps
Appendices
References



List of Tables and Figures

Summary of themes and subthemes identified as priorities 2
Figure 1. Project overview and draft timeline
Figure 2. Schematic of individuals informing the literature review
Figure 3. Overview and sequence of approach to review of literature
Table 1: Descriptions of spreadsheet columns 13
Appendix 1: Indicator theme, priority areas and questions to guide research
Appendix 2: Literature search strategies
Appendix 3. Results: indicator summary tables
Table 2. Results: Household food insecurity summary 32
Table 3. Results: Household food insecurity and fruit and vegetables indicator summary 32
Table 4. Results: Household food insecurity and health conditions summary. 33
Table 5. Results: Household food insecurity and food cost/affordability summary
Table 6. Results: Food environment indicator summary 36
Table 7. Results: Food system resilience indicator summary 40
Table 8. Results: Influencing food policy general 45
Table 9. Results: Influencing food policy with National Nutritious Food Basket. 49
Table 10. Results: Influencing food policy with Community Food Action Initiative. 53
Appendix 4. Advisory committee feedback

Executive Summary

Developing food security indicators in B.C.

In 2009, six food security indicators were developed to monitor the 2006 model core program on food security in B.C. However, during the 2014 revision of the *Model Core Program Paper: Food Security*, the health authorities and the BC Ministry of Health (MOH) identified the need to update the food security indicators as they no longer reflected the current literature or the context and breadth of food security work occurring in B.C.

This report focuses on the indicator literature review process and findings, as part of a multi-phased project to develop an evidence-based set of indicators that are useful and feasible for the health authorities and the MOH. The indicators will:

- Reflect food security priorities identified by the MOH and health authorities.
- Be relevant to the goals and objectives of the 2014 *Model Core Program Paper: Food Security*.
- Inform practice and policy by demonstrating the current state of food security/household food insecurity in B.C.; demonstrating the impact of food security initiatives; and highlighting where gaps exist and further work is needed to improve food security.

Literature review

The objective of this literature review is to identify indicator areasⁱ for potential food security indicators and to show the availability and quality of evidence linked to food security and/or health outcomes. This review will guide the next phase of the project where BC Centre for Disease Control (BCCDC) will work with health authorities and the MOH to prioritize the defined indicator areas, which will be further refined into indicators.

To guide the process to update the indicators, BCCDC developed a conceptual framework for food security indicators (herein referred to as the Framework). This Framework demonstrates where public health can influence food security and outlines the causal relationships between indicators. Health authorities and the MOH were asked to identify priority food security themes and subthemes from the Framework to inform the current literature review. Four overarching themes and several subthemes emerged and are summarized in the table below (*Summary of themes and subthemes identified as priorities*). During the literature review, the researchers further refined the subthemes based on the available evidence.

These are indicator topic areas that will need to be further refined to become specific, measurable indicators.



Theme	Subthemes	
	1. Rates of household food insecurity (HFI)	
Health and food insecurity (e.g. mental health, physical health,	2. HFI and fruit and vegetable consumption	
malnutrition)	 Rates of HFI compared to illness (chronic disease, e.g. diabetes), obesity and breastfeeding 	
Food affordability (food cost as a proportion of income)	1. Food cost as a proportion of income	
	1. Food self-sufficiency: number of people food self-sufficient; local food	
Food system response to shocks	production; actively farmed land; import vs grown local	
and disturbances (such as forest	2. Connection between shocks/disturbances in B.C. communities and	
fires) (e.g. food self-sufficiency,	availability of food	
level of local food production)	3. Food plans as part of emergency preparedness (e.g. plans to respond	
	to shocks and disturbances)	
	1. Availability of, and distance to, grocery stores	
Access to human/society	2. Access to healthy food – specific to the amount of healthy food in stores	
produced food environments	3. Spatio-temporal access to grocery stores (especially in rural	
food delivery services, featury lood,	communities and lower income neighbourhoods)	
markets/food markets)	4. Zoning for food availability	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	5. Community approaches to addressing access to healthy food	
Influencing food security or food	1. Participation in policy change and policy implementation	
insecurity (income) policy	2. Advocacy methods	

Summary of themes and subthemes identified as priorities

Methods

The literature review drew on both peer-reviewed and grey literature, as well as consultation with subject-matter experts on the advisory committee and the research team. Based on the scope of the project and the limited evidence on food security indicators, the research team used a structured method for reviewing and assessing the literature followed by a snowballing approach rather than a systematic approach. The review explored both the evidence for use of the indicator area (e.g. a review of food security indicators) and also the association between an indicator area and food security and/ or health outcomes. The former relied more heavily on grey literature, as little peer-reviewed literature exists, while the latter drew more heavily from peer-reviewed literature.

Summary of findings

The literature was summarized into four themes: household food insecurity (both "health and food insecurity" and "food affordability"), food environments, food system resilience (response to shocks and disturbances) and influencing food security policy.

Household food insecurity

Household food insecurity (HFI) is based on the Household Food Security Survey Module (HFSSM) that is part of the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS). HFSSM is a validated scale of the severity of food insecurity that measures inadequate or insecure access to food due to financial constraints, and has been used extensively in research and grey literature. This review examined the use of HFI as part of composite indicators associated with fruit and vegetable (FV) intake, health conditions and food cost/affordability. The review found no examples of HFI and FV or HFI and chronic conditions as a composite indicator.

- Fruit and vegetable intake was measured as either servings or frequency and overall the evidence suggests that HFI is associated with lower FV intake (whether it be servings or frequency) in both adults and children.
- The evidence review examined a number of health outcomes in relation to HFI including diabetes, cardiovascular disease, breastfeeding rates and duration, and mental health. Overall the evidence suggests that HFI is associated with more negative health outcomes.
- Food cost/affordability is used as an indicator in the literature; however, there was considerable variability amongst the proposed combination of variables. Evidence examining the relationship between an indicator for food cost/affordability together with HFI suggests that living with lower income or experiencing HFI is associated with:
 - □ A lesser ability to afford a healthy diet
 - A greater proportion of income spent on food than families at the median income level
 - Not having enough funds for a healthy diet after other expenses are paid

Food environments

Research on food environments and health and food security has emerged quickly over the past decade. However, there remains a lack of evaluation research to assess effectiveness of built environment interventions. Inconsistent settings, measurement tools and findings across the literature are major limitations in evaluating potential indicators. There is a significant gap in knowledge of food environments in Indigenous communities and rural/remote northern communities. Food deserts (defined as "neighbourhoods that are simultaneously materially deprived and have low geographic access to nutritious affordable food sources") are a major focus of US-based research, however, there is no evidence of widespread food deserts in Canada.

- Zoning bylaws are a common way to influence food environments. Bylaws have the potential to impact food access and availability for all residents of an area (i.e. equity) and the ability to target areas most in need of food environment improvements. Zoning bylaws typically relate to smaller geographic areas (provincial/territorial or local) and are therefore potentially of use for vulnerable neighbourhoods or regions; these may also be easier to evaluate. However, evidence to assess effectiveness or impact on diet is limited.
- Geographic indicators measure the availability of more/less healthy food outlets based on proximity (i.e. distance from a fixed point), density (i.e. number within a fixed area) or variety (i.e. ratio of more/less healthy outlets). These measures use a number of sources to identify the location and number of food outlets by type. Evidence suggests some relationship between diet and geographic access to food. Some evidence suggests that disadvantaged neighbourhoods in Canada may have more fast food outlets.
 - Density of food outlet types may have a greater impact on diet than proximity, possibly due to other factors that are reflected in spatio-temporal indicators. Despite inconsistent research with links to health outcomes, geographic measures have value because access is necessary (if not sufficient) for healthy eating and food security.
 - Variety indicators like the modified Retail Food Environment Index (mRFEI), provide a more complete picture of food availability than simply measuring access to healthy or less healthy food outlets.
 - Spatio-temporal access (e.g. normal movement patterns, time schedules, transportation mode and availability) is important to consider with respect to geographic food access—this is a strengthening area of research.
- Consumer food environment assessments measure availability and/or price of specific foods or types of foods inside retail food outlets (e.g. supermarkets, corner stores, greengrocers).
 Validated tools are available, but they are labour-intensive and require manual data collection.
- Evidence related to community-oriented programs, which improve diet and access, suggests that gardens and garden programs impact food literacy, skills and familiarity with different foods.

Food system resilience

Resilient food systems can be described as the food system's ability to adapt to changing conditions, withstand disasters and mitigate the impact of shocks and disturbances. Flexibility, diversity, redundancy, adaptability as well as the capacity of individuals and organizations to monitor and manage risks and vulnerabilities are characteristics of resilient food systems. These characteristics are reflected in the indicator categories and areas included in the findings from the literature. Measuring these characteristics can be challenging except for economic profitability where data is available from Statistics Canada.

Vulnerability of food system infrastructure to natural disasters compares the location of food system infrastructure (including food transportation infrastructure, warehousing and retail buildings, and food production locations) to locations vulnerable to natural disasters such as floods, landslides, earthquakes and forest fires. This indicator is used across the literature and



does show that resilience is reduced when food system infrastructure is in places vulnerable to natural disasters.

- Diversity across all aspects of the food system (i.e. supply chain) is a central element in creating more resilient food systems. Strong evidence suggests that plant diversity and complexity in farming systems can reduce vulnerability to extreme climatic events.
- Sustainability, security or resilience of the systems or inputs upon which food production depend (e.g. seeds, water, energy and nutrients) emerged strongly from the evidence as critical to the resilience of food systems themselves.
- Numerous indicators of the economic profitability or performance of the agriculture sector were important considerations for food system resilience. Regional/local food production is critical for food system resilience, although complete reliance on local food sources gives no greater resilience than complete reliance on imports. The connection between food self-reliance and increased resilience were not well supported by the evidence. Knowledge transfer/exchange between different food system actors (e.g. producer-producer, producer-consumer, consumer-government) is important in creating social networks that confer food system resilience.

Influencing policy

Influencing policy is a broad indicator theme related to capacity—it measures how public health practitioners influence policy (development, change and implementation) and methods used for advocacy. There is very little published or grey literature to support the theme of influencing food security-related policy, however, the literature suggests that establishing a theory of change is a fundamental starting point for evaluating advocacy and policy change. Two theories of change guided the work for this section: the first ("Policy window" theory) prepares for a window of opportunity to influence policy by clearly defining the problem and identifying solutions; and the second ("Grassroots" theory) occurs when communities self-organize to address an issue that directly affects them—this aligns well with the goals of the Community Food Action Initiative (CFAI). The strategies and outcomes described within these theories formed the indicator categories for this section (i.e. framing the problem, developing a strategy, mobilizing community, training, etc.).

There was only one peer-reviewed study that addressed the subtheme of using the National Nutritious Food Basket (NNFB) as an advocacy tool to influence policy, which reported that the NNFB is used in multiple ways for health advocacy in Ontario.

Conclusions and next steps

The literature review focused on the four key themes identified by the health authorities and the MOH. The level of evidence available for each of the four themes varied. Household food insecurity is a validated measure in Canada and there was substantial literature showing that HFI is associated with lower fruit and vegetable consumption and poorer health outcomes. Food environments (especially those examining geographic access and zoning) is prominent in the literature, however, there are inconsistencies across studies in findings, measurement, tools, etc. Food system resilience literature focuses on characteristics to support resilience such as diversity, sustainability and economic



profitability. There was very little literature specific to the theme of influencing food security policy and supporting advocacy and more work will need to done within this theme once the priorities have been narrowed down (see next steps). Overall, the literature reviewed illustrated support for moving forward with the themes identified by the health authorities and the MOH.

The next steps are to narrow down the number of indicator areas. BCCDC and the MOH will work to develop indicator prioritization criteria and engage food security experts in the health authorities and the MOH to prioritize the indicator areas. After the first round of prioritization, key decision makers/ leaders will also have the chance to prioritize indicator areas. Following the prioritization, the indicator areas will be refined. This may require further review of the literature, developing clear definitions and measures for the selected indicators and stakeholders' input.

Project background

Food security is complex in both content and governance and is therefore challenging to measure. In 2009, the Provincial Health Services Authority (PHSA), in collaboration with the regional health authorities and the BC Ministry of Health (MOH), developed six food security indicators to monitor the 2006 *Model Core Program Paper: Food Security*. During the revision of the *Model Core Program Paper: Food Security* in 2014, the health authorities and the MOH identified the need to update the 2009 food security indicators as they no longer represented the current literature or the breadth of food security work occurring in B.C. As such, the indicators did not accurately reflect the B.C. food security context. The MOH supported moving forward with updating the food security indicators.

The purpose of this project is to develop an evidence-based set of indicators that are useful and feasible for the health authorities and the MOH. The indicators will:

- Reflect food security priorities identified by the MOH and health authorities and will be relevant to the goals and objectives of the model core program paper on food security.
- Inform practice and policy by demonstrating the current state of food security/household food insecurity in B.C., reflecting the impact of food security initiatives and highlighting where gaps exist and further work is needed to improve food security.

Project overview

This is a multi-phased project that began with the development of a conceptual framework for food security indicators (herein referred to as the Framework) to guide the indicator process. The Framework document can be found on the BCCDC website. The purpose of the Framework is to help demonstrate where public health can influence food security, and the causal relationship and interconnectedness between indicators. The Framework describes three key elements of food security, as well as several sub-elements. The key elements are household/individual food insecurity, food systems and capacity.

The current phase of the project involved two steps: identification of priority food security topics from the Framework and a literature review on the identified topics. A consulting firm was hired to develop, administer and assess a written survey to narrow down the number of areas for researching during the literature review. The survey was completed by seven groups: the five regional health authorities, the First Nations Health Authority (FNHA) and the MOH. The consulting firm developed a short report to present the aggregated results, which can be accessed through the Provincial Manager of Food Security at BCCDC.

Four overarching themes emerged from the survey: household food insecurity (both "health and food insecurity" and "food affordability"), food environments, food system resilience (response to shocks and disturbances) and influencing food security policy (sub-themes were also identified) (see Appendix 1). These four themes directed the literature review and proposal of possible indicator areas. This report focuses on the literature review process and findings.



This work will be used to guide the next phase of the project where health authorities and the MOH will have to prioritize and finalize the food security indicators for the province (see Figure 1 for an overview of the indicator development process).





Literature review

The outcome of the literature review is to identify a suite of possible food security indicator areas (which will be refined in future phases) and to clearly demonstrate the existence/quality of the evidence in relation to food security and/or health outcomes for each of the proposed indicator areas. The review of literature was led by the research coordinator and her research team in collaboration with Provincial Manager of Food Security, an epidemiologist, a surveillance biostatistician, and Director, Population Health Surveillance & Epidemiology, from the Population and Public Health team at BCCDC in consultation with an advisory committee (see Figure 2).





Methods

Methods overview

The literature review consisted primarily of a review of published and grey literature, supplemented by information provided by the advisory committee and the research team of consultants. Figure 3 provides an overview of the steps of the review of literature.

The team used a structured method for reviewing and assessing the literature that followed a snowballing rather than a systematic approach. A balance was struck between covering the research as thoroughly as possible, while not doing a systematic review.



The research coordinator drafted research methods which were informed and approved by the PPH team at BCCDC. It included research strategies and steps, priorities and questions to guide research, appraisal and reporting documents, and inclusion/exclusion criteria. Further details are provided within subsequent sections.

Scope of literature review and research questions

The initial step of the literature review was to establish the desired outcomes, scope and research questions to guide the review process. The PPH team identified the following desired outcomes:

- Collate a suite of food security indicator areas that are used in other jurisdictions or have been proposed for use in the literature.
- Where possible, document evidence supporting a relationship between the indicator and food security and/or health outcomes (e.g. income and household food insecurity).
- Where no indicators were found within a theme (e.g. influencing policy change), propose a mix of quantitative and qualitative indicator areas and provide a rationale.

The scope of the literature review was narrowed to focus on the four themes selected by the health authorities and the MOH. The research coordinator and the Provincial Manager of Food Security developed a set of guiding research questions for each of the themes (see Appendix 1) and refined the themes and questions based on input from the advisory and the initial literature search done by the research team.

Advisory committee

PPH established an advisory committee composed of academics; Medical Health Officers and epidemiologists from the health authorities; and a food security representative from the First Nations Health Authority and the MOH. The purpose of the advisory was to support the PPH team and the researcher team to develop evidence-based indicator areas by providing expert knowledge, guidance and input into relevant literature and final draft suite of indicator areas. The advisory committee provided information within their subject areas of expertise, including priority areas where they knew of evidence-based relationships between indicators and health and/or food security outcomes, indicators that are currently collected but are not related to health and/or food security through the evidence, relevant documents, and data sources and gaps within the priority areas. This information was collected primarily through interviews with the research coordinator and also through a questionnaire that was circulated via e-mail. A brief summary of the advisory's discussions and suggestions can be found in Appendix 4.

Data collection

Researchers collected, examined and reported on both academic and grey literature.

In approaching the academic literature, the research coordinator and researchers collaborated with a research librarian to determine appropriate research terms and databases. Inclusion criteria included:

- Types of studies (secondary research: systematic reviews, meta-analyses and reviews; primary research when secondary not available);
- Jurisdictions with similar health systems: Canada, United States, European Union, Australia, international (excluding literature from the Global South and developing countries);
- Languages: English;
- Dates: published 2008-present.

Criteria varied slightly between research themes, depending on quality, quantity and relevance of literature found.

Search terms fell under three main search themes: household food insecurity, food environment and food resilience. Search terms, databases and methods varied slightly within each theme, depending on the information found. The academic literature search was progressive, beginning with secondary sources (e.g. meta-analysis, systematic reviews and reviews) and moving to primary literature where secondary sources were not available. As per the scope of the project, searches in all topic areas were not exhaustive.

The librarian performed the searches of the academic literature. She generated lists of documents which were downloaded and imported results into an EndNote database to facilitate removal of duplicates and article screening. She also recorded the research strategies for each theme.

Individual researchers examined grey literature in each theme. The research coordinator, in collaboration with the advisory committee, generated grey literature reference lists. The research librarian and research coordinator developed a strategy for researching grey literature. Grey literature was particularly important in identifying reports and research collaboratives specifically about indicators, including where they have been proposed for use, where they are collected and data sources.

For both the academic and grey literature, the literature searches were iterative, depending on the quantity and quality of information found. A snowball approach was used to identify other relevant studies and information. See Appendix 2 for details of the literature search strategy for each theme.

There were two exceptions to the above process. First, for the theme "influencing policy", the research coordinator developed a different approach because there was no clear scope or definition for this priority theme and very little published research was available in this subject area. As such, the research coordinator and the Provincial Manager of Food Security identified a theoretical model to help guide the research process for this theme. The second exception was for household food insecurity (HFI). Since HFI is a well-established indicator in Canada (e.g. Health Canada has a household food



security survey module as part of the Canadian Community Health Survey), the PPH team and the research coordinator decided that it was unnecessary to put it through the same review process. However, it did go through the same literature review process when used as composite measures, such as HFI and fruit and vegetable intake.

Researchers screened in and appraised documents according to appraisal criteria and tools developed by the research coordinator in collaboration with the PPH team. The research coordinator adapted and abridged the tools from the Qualitative Research from the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme¹, AMSTAR 2 and Charis Management Consulting.

The researchers summarized their findings in a standardized Excel workbook. Table 1 describes the information captured in the Excel spreadsheets. The researchers then developed written summaries to highlight key findings to be included in this report (see next section).

Column	1	Name	Description
А	Indicator category		Generated from themes identified by health authorities, and narrowed down by research coordinator, Provincial Food of Security Manager and individual researchers.
В	Existing or new?		Specifies whether the indicator has been used (in grey or academic literature) or if it is a new indicator area proposed by the research team.
с	Indicator area		More specific than indicator categories in "A", but still need to be narrowed down to generate specific indicators once priority areas are chosen.
D	Brief summary of evidence for use of this as indicator		Lists evidence for use of this area as an indicator. As there is a paucity of this literature, sometimes this column includes a study or report where the indicator was used rather than the evidence to support the indicator. Note the difference from Column "F".
E	Where are indicator areas used?		Ideally, this column includes reports or organizations who use these indicators on an ongoing basis. Due to the paucity of literature, also included are individual studies and/or grey literature where the indicators may not be used on an on-going basis.
F	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes		This is the only column in the spreadsheet that doesn't specifically examine indicators per se. Instead, it illustrates the link between the indicator area and food security and/or health outcomes.
G		Methods of collection/ calculation.	There are 3 columns related to data sources. Column "G" notes method of calculation for the indicator.
н	What are the data	Frequency of reporting.	Column "H" notes how frequently the data sources are made available.
I	sources?	Where can data be found? Level of reporting (e.g. provincial, etc.).	Column "I" notes where data can be found, and at what level (e.g. provincial, regional, etc.) "G", "H" and "I" are all based on the grey literature.
J	J Strengths and limitations of evidence for proposed indicator area (where available).		Refers both to strengths and limitations noted in the literature, or as noted by the research team.
к	Other comments		

Table 1: Descriptions of spreadsheet columns

Results: Summary of indicator areas

The literature review focused on the four overarching themes identified by the health authorities and the MOH. The themes include household food insecurity, influencing food security policy, food environments and food system resilience. Within the themes, the health authorities and MOH also identified subthemes. The researchers further refined the subthemes during the literature review based on the available evidence (see Appendix 1). Two subthemes were not included in the literature review due to limited data or documentation on the topic and/or they did not fit within the scope of the project. The two subthemes were health care costs relative to HFI and information regarding food as a component of emergency planning in B.C.

As discussed in the methods section, the literature review explored both the evidence for use of the indicator category as an indicator (i.e. a review of food security indicators) and the evidence supporting an association between an indicator category and food security and/or health outcomes. The former relied more heavily on grey literature as little published literature exists for this area, while the latter drew more heavily from published literature.

This section presents the findings from the literature review for each of the four themes. See Appendix 3 for summarized tables of the proposed indicator areas and corresponding literature. The results presented for each of the four themes may look somewhat different from each other. This is in part due to the fact that a different research consultant worked on and wrote the findings for each theme and because each theme has varying degrees of literature. The results summarize the literature and provide strengths and gaps for each theme. These are high-level summaries; more detailed information on the literature review findings can be obtained from the Provincial Manager of Food Security.

Theme: Individual and household food insecurity

Household food insecurity

Household food insecurity (HFI) is based on the Household Food Security Survey Module (HFSSM) (collected as either core or optional content depending on the year) that is part of the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) conducted by Statistics Canada. HFSSM is a validated scale of the severity of food insecurity that measures inadequate or insecure access to food due to financial constraints; the module and methods used to combine responses were adapted from methods developed in the United States (US).²⁻⁴ These methods have been used to monitor food security in the US since 1995, and have been used extensively in research and grey literature in Canada.⁵⁻⁸

Strengths of this indicator include that it is based on a validated scale and has been used extensively in combination with other variables (see below). Limitations of HFSSM include the fact that it does not take



into account the use of traditional foods, harvesting practices and/or food-sharing systems, nor does it provide the frequency or duration of food insecurity experiences.⁹ The CCHS sample is limited in that certain groups are excluded (e.g. on-reserve Indigenous Peoples and people who are homeless – both of which are groups where the potential for experiencing food insecurity is quite high).⁸ Additionally, users of this indicator should be mindful of the thresholds that define HFI, as these levels vary based on the organization that is analyzing the data. For example, Health Canada classifies food insecurity as either moderate or severe whereas PROOF (and other organizations including PHSA)¹⁰ classifies HFI as marginal, moderate or severe.¹¹

Household food insecurity and fruit and vegetable intake

Documents illustrating HFI with fruit and vegetable (FV) intake together as an indicator were not found, however, there was support in the research literature for looking at these two variables together.^{9, 10, 12-17}

For the HFI component of the composite indicator, HFI based on HFSSM was proposed (five studies),⁹. ^{10, 12-14} as was household income (two studies)^{15, 16} and hunger (one study).¹⁷ The FV component of the composite indicator was noted as either FV servings (proportion of population that eats five or more servings of FV per day) (five studies)^{9, 12-15} or FV frequency (proportion of the population that eats FV five or more times per day) (three studies).^{10, 16, 17} Generally, evidence suggests that HFI (and its proxy measures) are associated with lower FV intake, whether it be servings or frequency.^{9, 10, 12-17}

Strengths of this composite include the validated HFI measure. In addition, evidence suggests that FV intake can serve as a proxy for healthy eating habits.¹⁸ Using household income may serve as a proxy for HFI given that financial challenges may limit one's ability to have consistent access to food. However, hunger should not be used as a proxy for HFI as it is a single measure not likely to capture all who experience HFI.¹⁷ Even though individuals who experience severe food insecurity have a greater likelihood of hunger, the two are not synonymous.¹⁹ Hunger includes "the sensations of discomfort, weakness, pain or sickness experienced by an individual that result from an extended period of not having enough to eat".^{19(p4)} Thus, hunger is thought to be more reflective of severe food insecurity rather than moderate or marginal food insecurity. Limitations also include potential issues with accuracy of dietary recall and the fact that using FV frequency does not provide an assessment of the quantity of food eaten.

Household food insecurity and health outcomes

Documents illustrating HFI and various health outcomes together as indicators were not found, however, there was support in the research literature for looking at the validated HFI measure and various other health-related variables together (e.g. breastfeeding initiation, mental health, etc.). Seventeen out of 19 studies used HFI, ²⁰⁻³⁶ where the remaining two used hunger.^{37, 38}

The health conditions that were examined were:

- Maternal/Child Health: Breastfeeding, cognition (academic achievement), body mass index (BMI), diabetes, mental health (hyperactivity/inattention, depression and suicide ideation) and general health (perceived)
- Adult Health: General health (perceived), mortality (all cause), BMI, diabetes, cardiovascular disease (CVD) and mental health (service utilization, risk and prevalence of adverse outcomes).

While no significant differences in breastfeeding initiation between food insecure and food secure women were seen in a Canadian 2018 study, relative to women with food security, those with marginal, moderate and severe food insecurity had significantly lower odds of exclusive breastfeeding to four months.²⁰ For children, there is some evidence to suggest an association between food insecurity and a lower likelihood of meeting academic expectations.²¹ There is also evidence that HFI is associated with overweight and obesity,^{22, 23} diabetes²⁴ and mental health (persistent hyperactivity/inattention).²⁵ Hunger was associated with a higher odds of depression and suicide ideation among youth,³⁹ as well as poorer self-reported general health.³⁸ For adults, research suggests that HFI is associated with diabetes,²⁹⁻³² heart disease³⁰ and mental health (e.g. odds of service utilization, risk of adverse mental health outcomes), ^{10, 14, 34-36} Only one study examined the association between HFI and obesity in Canada. Findings from this study differed based on the use of self-report height and weight (e.g. rates of obesity were significantly higher among food insecure individuals) versus measured height and weight (e.g. almost no significant differences in obesity by food security status).²⁸ Generally, evidence suggests that HFI is associated with more negative health outcomes.

Strengths of this composite are that they include the validated HFI measure and the availability of administrative databases reporting on diagnosed health conditions. Self-reported health status has been demonstrated as a valid measure for some variables (e.g. mental health),⁴⁰ but less so for others (e.g. overweight and obesity).⁴¹ Thus, using administrative databases to obtain diagnosed health conditions may be preferable.²⁹ Again, hunger should not be used as a proxy for HFI as it is a single measure not likely to capture all children who experience HFI.¹⁷

Food cost/affordability

Documents providing evidence for the use of food cost/affordability as indicators were found,^{5, 42-45} however, there was considerable variability amongst the combination of variables proposed. Five out of 12 studies proposed using HFI; three with the cost of the National Nutritious Food Basket (NNFB) as a percentage of basic expenses^{5, 46, 47}; one with household economic resources after tax and after rent income⁴⁸; and one with satisfaction related to the ability to find foods that one can afford.⁴⁹ Other documents proposed the use of percent who could not afford balanced meals⁴² or percent of students who went to bed hungry because there was not enough money to buy food,⁴³ whereas others focused on annual household spending on food.⁴⁵ Looking specifically at a focus on the cost of NNFB, documents fell into three themes: (1) HFI and Cost of NNFB as a percent of basic expenses;^{5, 46, 47} (2) annual cost of NNFB, as a proportion of income;¹⁶ and (3) cost of NNFB as a percent of basic expenses;^{50, 46, 47} (2) annual cost of income allocated to shelter.^{50, 51}

Evidence examining the relationship between an indicator for food cost/affordability and HFI suggests that living with lower income or experiencing HFI is associated with a lesser ability to afford a healthy diet,^{48, 49} a greater proportion of income spent on food than families at the median income level¹⁶ and not having enough funds for a healthy diet after other expenses are paid.^{5, 46, 47}

Strengths of this composite include the validated HFI measure and that NNFB is used across Canada to assess the affordability of a healthy diet. Limitations of NNFB are summarized in the *Food Costing in BC 2017: Assessing the Affordability of Healthy Eating report*,⁵² and include such things as the tool being from 2008 and the items and/or sizes perhaps no longer reflecting what is currently sold in the marketplace; and the tool only being used in full-service grocery stores, which excludes small, remote and Indigenous communities without full-service grocery stores.⁵²

Theme: Food environments

The overall body of research evidence about food environments and health/food security has been emerging quickly over the past 10 to 15 years. However, there remains a lack of evaluation research to assess effectiveness of built environment interventions, especially with respect to food. Heterogeneity in measurement tools and inconsistent findings across studies and settings is a major limitation in assessing health outcomes and evaluating potential indicators.⁵³ There is also a lack of research focusing on rural areas and Indigenous communities.⁵⁴ As per the methods, this review focused on review articles, many of which assess food environments without making a link to health, food security or diet.

Food deserts (defined as "neighbourhoods that are simultaneously materially deprived and have low geographic access to nutritious affordable food sources" ^{54(peS4)}), which are closely connected to geographic access to retail food sources, are a major focus of US-based research. Because food environments and food access issues differ in important ways across geographic and political boundaries, this review focused on Canada-specific research. Although prevalent in the US, there is no evidence of widespread food deserts in Canada.⁵⁵ Three studies (in Hamilton, London and Saskatoon) found evidence of food deserts, whereas 10 studies found lower socio-economic status (SES) areas to have as good or better geographic access to nutritious foods than higher SES areas.⁵⁶ However, it is also worth noting that the majority of food access research in Canada has taken place in urban areas. There is a significant gap in knowledge of food environments in rural and remote communities, and more work needs to be done to examine whether food deserts exist there. US–Canadian differences with respect to racially segregated neighbourhoods, as well as the links between race and SES, also impact transferability of the research. However, some US reviews were included where there was a specific link between geographic access and health outcomes or diet.

Zoning (prohibitive and proactive)

Most efforts to use zoning to influence food environments rely on bylaws. Prohibitive bylaws limit unhealthy food sellers, while proactive bylaws provide incentives to ensure availability of grocers. Both have been used in Canada and other countries. Land use bylaws are most common, but other bylaw types, such as vehicle idling laws to prohibit drive-throughs, have also been implemented.⁵⁷ Municipal



tax incentives can also be used to influence the location and availability of food outlets.ⁱⁱ Most reports of zoning indicators focus on areas around schools and suggest a link between proximity to or density of less healthy food outlets and consumption of those foods.⁵⁸⁻⁶¹

Strengths of zoning include a potential to have a real impact on food access and availability for all residents of an area (i.e. equity) and the ability to target areas deemed most in need of food environment improvements. Zoning bylaws typically relate to smaller geographic areas (e.g. provincial/ territorial or local)⁶² and are therefore potentially of use for vulnerable neighbourhoods or regions, which are also easier to manage and evaluate.⁵⁸ However, evaluation evidence to assess effectiveness or impact on diet is limited. Users should consider the range of factors that influence food acquisition, such as income, demographics and travel patterns. For example, if healthier outlets are incentivized, will people use them, and if there aren't unhealthy outlets, will people simply go elsewhere to access those food items? Users should also ensure there are no legal contraints⁶³ and consider the possibility of resistance from the business community.⁶⁴

Geographic access (proximity, density and variety)

Geographic indicators measure availability of more/less healthy food outlets based on proximity (i.e. distance from a fixed point),^{53, 65-67} density (i.e. number within a fixed area)^{53, 65, 66, 68} or variety (i.e. ratio of more/less healthy outlets).^{53, 65, 68} These measures use census data, GIS mapping, industry classification codes, health inspection data and business registry data to identify the location and number of food outlets by type. Heterogeneity of measurement tools complicates assessment of the links between retail food access and diet or other outcomes of interest, but overall evidence suggests some relationship between diet and geographic access to food.^{54, 56, 69, 70} There is also evidence that disadvantaged neighbourhoods in Canada may have an excess of fast food outlets.⁶⁰ Density of food outlet types may have a greater impact on diet than proximity,⁷⁰ possibly due to other factors that are reflected in spatio-temporal indicators.

Despite equivocal research for health outcomes, geographic measures have value because access is necessary, if not sufficient, for healthy eating and food security. Variety indicatorsⁱⁱⁱ such as the modified Retail Food Environment Index (mRFEI), sometimes referred to as relative density, provide a more complete picture of food availability than simply measuring access to healthy or less healthy food outlets.⁵³ They can account for food swamps (defined as "neighbourhoods that are both materially deprived and have high geographic access to food retailers perceived as promoting mainly minimally nutritious food options such as fast food outlets and convenience stores" ⁵⁴(peS4), which may be relevant for disadvantaged neighbourhoods or areas around schools. All three geographic indicator types can be measured using multiple data sources, protocols and tools available, which permits comparisons with other regions due to broad use by projects such as INFORMAS/FoodEPI, Report Card (Alberta) and APHEO (Ontario). They can also be used in conjunction with other indicators such as consumer food environment assessments, demographic data⁵³ or used as part of spatio-temporal measures. Due to reliance on pre-defined census boundaries, these indicators are more suited to urban areas and may not provide meaningful data in smaller communities or rural areas where people typically travel farther to shop.

iii Variety indicators refer to the relative mix of food outlet types in an area.



ii Additional examples of zoning measures may be found in the World Cancer Research Fund International NOURISHING database

Consumer food environment assessment

Consumer food environment assessments measure availability and/or price of specific foods or types of foods inside retail food outlets (e.g. supermarkets, corner stores and greengrocers). Although indoor food environments were out of scope for this review, indoor food environments provide more information than store type, for example, convenience stores typically sell different things than greengrocers, and can address classification errors that occur with geographic indicators.⁶⁹ Such measures also reflect pricing and availability differences inside stores in different neighbourhoods.^{58, 60}

This type of indicator is part of the international INFORMAS Food Environment Policy Index, which provides tools as well as potential for data comparisons over time and across geographic regions.^{65,71} There are multiple validated tools available,^{65,71-75} the most common being the Nutrition Environment Measures Survey (NEMS).^{72, 73, 76} A major limitation of these measures is that they are labour-intensive and require manual data collection.⁵³ Users should keep in mind that, like geographic measures, availability does not guarantee consumption, so more outcomes/evaluation research is needed (note that Fraser Health is doing a pilot). Price, promotion and marketing will be important considerations.^{65, 77}

Spatio-temporal access (includes transportation)

Recent research articles provide clear indication that normal movement patterns, time schedules (individuals and retailers), transportation mode and availability, etc. are important considerations with respect to geographic food access and multiple measures should be used in conjunction where possible.^{69, 70, 78, 79} This seems to be the direction that geographic access is moving, as it incorporates life circumstances that might account for some of the variability in previous research. This was tested with some success in Montreal, where urban travel data was available.⁸⁰ Transportation (mode, connectivity and availability) is a particularly important influencer of realized geographic food access and thus an essential component of spatio-temporal access to food. Personal vehicles and daily movement patterns make proximity less important.

Although there are no existing tools or indicators, work is forthcoming from CANUE.^{iv} The CANUE tool is expected to have limited use in rural areas because it relies on large dissemination areas, but the developers are hoping it will function in towns and smaller cities, if not very rural or remote regions where people normally travel longer distances to purchase food. In future, the measures could be adjusted for rural regions using longer radial distances. This tool will not account for mobility or time schedules but will describe retail food environment exposure for areas in which people might spend time (e.g. if you spend time in area X, this is your food retail availability).

Transportation access may be a particularly valuable indicator (or component of spatio-temporal access) in smaller communities where distances are greater and access to public or active transportation is limited because of low population base and rural/remote living.^{69, 81}

iv Sample data or tools may be available from Michael Widener with CANUE in future.



Community food programs

There are numerous community-oriented programs designed to improve diet or food access. Those considered in scope for this review focused on community or school gardens and programs that increase relative affordability of healthier foods (e.g. subsidies that reduce the retail price of fruits and vegetables). Evidence from the *Healthy Built Environment Linkages Toolkit* suggests that gardens and garden programs impact food literacy, skills and familiarity with different foods.^{82, 83} These outcomes may be more important than the actual quantity of food that comes from the gardens.

Although food taxes and pricing were deemed out of scope, affordability programs were included because affordability influences whether consumers can take advantage of geographic food access. Subsidies and price incentives have been shown to increase fruit and vegetable intake and reduced chronic disease risks.⁸⁴⁻⁸⁸

Theme: Food system resilience

Resilient food systems can be understood as the food system's ability to adapt to changing conditions, withstand disasters and mitigate the impact of shocks and disturbances.⁸⁹ Attention has been given to resilience in terms of the production of food, however understanding and measuring resilience in terms of whole food systems is an emerging area.⁹⁰⁻⁹² Our food system is complex, dynamic and uncertain both horizontally across the supply chain (e.g. production, distribution and consumption), as well as vertically (local, regional, national and global scales).⁹² Flexibility, diversity, redundancy, adaptability as well as the capacity of individuals and organizations to monitor and manage risks and vulnerabilities are characteristics of resilient food systems.⁸⁹ The strength of the findings varies between the indicator categories. For example, while there are an increasing number of urban food system vulnerability assessments available, the information required to recreate these at a provincial level is difficult to access and assess. And while sustainability appeared to be an important factor to assess, suggested metrics were not available.

Access/consumption: Household food insecurity

Six of the articles retrieved^{89, 91-95} identified household food insecurity (HFI) as a factor affecting the ability of individuals to be resilient to food system shocks and therefore as an important factor contributing to overall resilience of the food system. Note that because HFI was covered extensively in the first theme, it was not the focus of the literature review for this theme. Therefore, it's unlikely that the six articles retrieved represent the breadth of the research on this indicator as it relates to resilience. A strength of this indicator is that it is cross-cutting, with metrics also being relevant to other food system theme areas.

System wide: Vulnerability of food system infrastructure to rapid onset hazards

This indicator category compares the location of built/physical food system infrastructure (including food transportation infrastructure, warehousing and retail buildings, and food production locations) to locations vulnerable to natural disasters such as floods, landslides, earthquakes, forest fires, etc. The indicator was used in ten of the articles retrieved,^{89, 96-104} including the food system vulnerability assessments of five North American municipalities. Two case studies of food system performance after a natural disaster provided specific evidence that in instances where food system infrastructure was located in places vulnerable to a natural disaster, resilience to rapid onset hazards was reduced.^{96, 98}

A strength of this indicator is its use across peer-reviewed literature and grey literature (i.e. the five food system vulnerability assessments referred to above). However, it may be difficult to assess at the B.C. scale as it requires considering specific, local-scale locations. An approach may be to focus on measuring this indicator for urban areas that serve as food distribution hubs for the rest of the province, as a disaster there would have a ripple effect of food supply chain issues across the province.

Supply chain (diversity/redundancy) and production (agricultural diversity/redundancy across scales)

Throughout the literature and in-keeping with resilience theory more generally,¹⁰⁵ diversity was reported to be a central element in creating more resilient food systems.

Four of the articles retrieved^{96, 102, 106, 107} specifically referred to the importance of diversity in the supply chain, including one¹⁰⁶ review of over 50 food system resilience articles which found nine articles that referred to the importance of supply chain diversity. As with the above indicator (vulnerability of food system infrastructure), it may be challenging to measure this indicator at the B.C. scale.

Fifteen of the articles retrieved^{97, 108-113, 107, 114-120} referred to the importance of diversification at the production stage of the food system. As a whole, these articles provide evidence that enhancing plant diversity and complexity in farming systems reduces vulnerability to extreme climatic events. They state that these observations have bolstered recognition that biodiversity and crop diversification strategies are important resilience strategies for agroecosystems. The strength of this indicator is in the rich set of evidence-based, scientific literature that the retrieved articles referred to in support of their claims (note it was beyond the scope of this study to review the supporting literature itself).

Production: Agricultural input sustainability, security or self-sufficiency

Twelve of the articles retrieved^{4, 8, 17, 24, 28 120-126} suggested that the sustainability, security, or resilience of the systems or inputs upon which food production depend on (e.g. seeds, water, energy and nutrients) is critical to the resilience of food systems themselves. However, although this indicator category emerged strongly from the literature as an important factor contributing to food system resilience, none of the articles retrieved applied it specifically or provided metrics or data sources that could be used to measure it. It may be challenging to develop new indicators and metrics to assess this indicator category for B.C., but doing so could set a precedent that other areas may look to.

Production: Economic performance

Numerous indicators of the economic profitability or performance of the agriculture sector were referred to in the literature as important considerations for food system resilience, including the ability of farmers to maintain a livelihood and invest in the future, and the attractiveness of farming as a reasonably profitable career choice. A total of eight of the retrieved articles included this indicator category.^{90, 95, 106, 111, 119, 127-129} Data to measure this indicator is collected annually by Statistics Canada and available at no cost, lending to the strength of this indicator and ease with which it can be measured.

Note that this indicator category is differentiated from the economic ability of consumers to purchase sufficient food, which is covered under the HFI theme.

Production: Capacity for local/regional food production

Five of the articles retrieved^{98, 111, 127 130, 131} argued that local/regional food production is critical for food system resilience. Importantly, they typically linked this to the concept of diversity and emphasized that complete reliance on local food sources confers no greater resilience than complete reliance on imports. Links drawn between food self-reliance and increased resilience were not well supported by evidence. For example, Ruhf^{127(p653)} states that "food system resilience … means: reduced dependence on food imported from outside the region", but does not provide data driven evidence to support this position.

Province/system-wide: Social capital and food system planning

Six of the articles retrieved^{106, 111, 129, 132-134} referred to the importance of knowledge transfer/exchange between different food system actors (e.g. producer-producer, producer-consumer, consumer-government) in creating social networks that confer food system resilience in times of crisis. Often this



was characterized as building human capital or social capital that people can fall back on in a crisis, and that increasing knowledge improves flexibility to adapt to changing conditions.

Two of the articles retrieved referred to robust, locally adapted food system and/or food resilience strategies in place to ensure preparedness in the event of a natural disaster or hazard.^{98, 106}

Despite these themes appearing strongly in the literature, no specific indicators to measure them were apparent.

Theme: Influencing policy

The indicator theme of "influencing policy" is related to capacity – measuring how public health professionals influence policy (development, change and implementation) and methods used for advocacy.^v Within this theme, the research coordinator and Provincial Manager of Food Security identified three areas of focus: measuring food security policy efforts, using the National Nutritious Food Basket (food costing in B.C.) as an advocacy tool to influence policy, and measuring policy and advocacy efforts specific to the Community Food Action Initiative (CFAI) objective of building community capacity to influence food security. The capacity element from the Framework cuts across the other two elements (HFI and Food System) and will therefore overlap with the other three themes (food environment, resilience and household food insecurity).

There is very little published or grey literature to support the theme of influencing policy; however, the literature consistently identifies the importance of "knowing the policy process" as an important aspect of influencing food security policy.^{135, 136, 137} Building on this, in *A guide to measuring advocacy and policy*, Organizational Research Services¹³⁸ suggests that establishing a theory of change is a fundamental starting point for evaluating advocacy and policy change. As such, the Provincial Manager of Food Security and the research coordinator sought a theories of change model for which to situate the indicator areas for this theme.

The Organizational Research Services suggests a number of theories of change for informing advocacy and policy change efforts.¹³⁹ The two theories used to organize the three main concepts included in this theme are:

- The "Policy window" theory of change (the foundation for the first two areas)
- The "Grassroots" theory of change (the foundation for the third area)

The research coordinator used the strategies and outcomes described within the theory of change models to create the broad indicator categories. Due to a paucity of evidence found for this theme, the approach focused more on sources of information for informing the indicator areas. These sources focused on theoretical use of indicators to influence policy (not specific to food security) and the grey literature on food security indicators. The research coordinator also took into consideration some initial scoping work where health authorities reported on current food security indicators being collected in

v Upon initial review, indicator categories under this theme may not appear to correspond to the capacity element from the 2018 Conceptual Framework for Food Security Indicators in BC (where policy and advocacy are included). This is due to the fact that influencing policy and advocacy for policy change is only one lens of capacity building.



their health authority and the type of indicators of interest to them (this will be referred to as the 2018 PHSA indicator scan).¹⁴⁰

This theme requires further work and refinement that will occur after the health authorities narrow down their areas of interest, which will happen in the next phase of the project. The sections that follow focus more on the theories of change used to organize the literature review than on the possible indicator areas (suggested indicator areas can be found in Appendix 3).

Influencing policy using the National Nutritious Food Basket

The theory of change used for this theme is the "policy windows" theory (also known as agenda setting theory) a theory developed by John Kingdon.¹⁴¹ While a systemized review of the use of "policy window" theory in public health was not conducted, many examples of its use in public health exist in the literature.¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁷ Other research identified "policy window theory" as one of a select few potential models used in nutrition¹⁴⁸ and proposed for use in social determinants of health¹⁴⁹ policy research. Cullerton et al.¹⁴⁸ note that there is limited research into the nutrition policy process in high income countries.

Policy window theory identifies three streams related to the policy system, including problems (framing the problem, research, and indicator tracking), policies (development of policy solutions) and politics (influencing the political climate). The theory purports that in order to reach the policy agenda or to receive significant attention, at least two of the streams need to converge within a critical moment or "policy window" ("windows of opportunity that arise when there is the possibility for policy change").^{139(p7)} The theory identifies four strategies which align with the streams:

- 1. Define the problem
- 2. Develop policy solutions
- 3. Strengthen organizational capacity (includes relationships, ability to identify policy window)
- 4. Influence the political climate (e.g. coalition building, advocacy efforts)^{139(p8)}

The theory suggests that these four strategies lead to intermediate outcomes (e.g. shift in social norms, strengthened organizational capacity, strengthened alliances and strengthened base of support), finally resulting in longer term outcomes (e.g. policy changes and impacts on conditions). These nine aspects of strategy and outcomes within the theory comprise the indicator categories for influencing food policy and using the NNFB to influence food policy.

The research coordinator identified indicator areas from the grey literature. Some of the indicator areas are drawn from the menu of outcomes for advocacy and policy work within *A guide to measuring advocacy and policy*.¹³⁸ As noted above, other indicator areas come from adaptations from existing indicators and a 2018 PHSA indicator scan.¹⁴⁰ Sample proposed indicator areas for influencing policy (general) are outlined in Table 8 in the appendices.



In applying this model specifically to influencing food policy with the NNFB, the research coordinator drew extensively on the only research found to be completed in this area – a 2018 study examining the use of the NNFB for health equity advocacy in Ontario.¹⁵⁰ In support of using NNFB as a policy advocacy tool, Power found that the:

NNFB is used in multiple ways for health advocacy including: educating within the public health unit and community, building strong public health-community partnerships, supporting board of health to write advocacy letters to provincial ministries, developing province-wide campaigns for health equity in professional associations and network.^{150(p8)}

Sample proposed indicator areas are outlined in Table 9 in the appendices.

Community capacity for advocacy and policy in Community Food Action Initiative (CFAI)

Rather than the "policy window" theory of change used in the previous indicator areas, the research coordinator and the Provincial Manager of Food Security chose the "Grassroots" theory of change because the focus is on capacity building around advocacy and policy. Grassroots theory recognizes that capacity building is an important part of advocacy and policy work at the grassroots level, but notes that policy change may or may not be the result. This aligns with the work supported by CFAI as not all food security groups, organizations or networks in the province have the capacity to, or the goals of, influencing policy. There is some overlap with the indicator categories and areas in the previous two areas.

Sample proposed indicator areas are outlined in Table 10 in the appendices.

Conclusion and next steps

The purpose of this literature review is to inform the development of a suite of evidence-based food security indicators that are useful and feasible for the B.C. health authorities and the Ministry of Health.

The literature review drew on both peer-reviewed and grey literature, as well as consultation with subject-matter experts on the advisory committee and the research team. The review focused on four overarching food security themes and several subthemes identified by the health authorities and the Ministry of Health. The research team refined the subthemes throughout the literature review based on the available evidence.

The level of evidence available for each of the four themes, and the more specific subthemes, varied. The review focused on examining household food insecurity (HFI) as part of composite indicators associated with fruit and vegetable consumption, health conditions and food affordability. HFI is a wellestablished measure in Canada and the evidence suggests that HFI is associated with lower fruit and vegetable intake and with more negative health outcomes. Research on food environments has emerged quickly over the past decade, however, there are inconsistencies in measurement tools, settings and findings, which is a limitation when assessing potential indicators. The review focused on topics such as zoning, consumer food environments and geographic indicators. The impact of zoning by-laws may be easier to measure, however, there is limited evidence as to their impact on diet. There is some evidence to suggest a relationship between diet quality and geographic access such as proximity to stores, the number of food outlets in an area and variety of healthy food to less healthy food outlets. Evidence is emerging for spatio-temporal measurement which looks beyond food outlets to transportation, movement patterns and time schedules. Tools do exist to measure price and availability of foods inside retail food outlets but this is labour-intensive.

With regards to food system resilience the literature review focused on characteristics of resilient food systems. The location of food systems infrastructure (e.g. food transport, warehouses, etc.) compared to locations vulnerable to natural disaster is an indicator used across the literature and shows that resilience is reduced when infrastructure is in places vulnerable to natural disasters. Diversity across the food system within both the supply chain and diversity in plants and farming as a key element of resilience is well supported by the literature, however, there are few examples of existing indicators for supply chain. The evidence shows that local/regional food production is critical for food system resilience on local food sources gives no greater resilience than complete reliance on imports. The connection between food self-reliance and increased resilience were not well supported by the evidence.

The theme of advocacy and influencing policy had limited evidence and will require further work once the prioritization process occurs in the next steps.

The literature review will help inform the next step in the indicator development process, which is to prioritize the food security indicator areas. BCCDC and the MOH will work to develop prioritization criteria to support food security experts in the health authorities and the Ministry of Health to prioritize the indicator areas. Following the prioritization process with food security experts, key decision makers/ leaders will also be asked to prioritize the indicator areas. Indicator areas will then need to be further refined to create specific indicators at which point further work will need to be done to develop clear definitions and measures for each of the selected indicators.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Indicator themes, priority areas and questions to guide research

Food security element from indicator framework	Theme	Subthemes ^a	Questions to guide research
Individual and household food insecurity	Health and food insecurity (e.g. mental health, physical health, malnutrition)	 Rates of HFI (household food insecurity)^b HFI and fruit and vegetable consumption Rates of HFI compared to illness (chronic disease, e.g. diabetes), obesity and breastfeeding^c 	A. What indicators have been collected in #2 & #3?B. Does an evidence-based relationship exist between: HFI and fruit and veg consumption? HFI and health conditions?
	Food affordability (food cost as a proportion of income)	1. Food cost as a proportion of income	A. In what ways has cost of eating/ food affordability been reported as an indicator? (one way is food cost as a proportion of income)

Food security element from indicator framework		Theme	Subthemes ^ª	Questions to guide research
i. Resilient	i. Resilient	Food system response to shocks and disturbances (such as forest fires) (e.g. food self-sufficiency, level of local food production)	 Food self-sufficiency: number of people food self-sufficient; local food production; actively farmed land; import vs grown local Connection between shocks/disturbances in BC communities and availability of food Food plans as part of emergency preparedness (e.g. plans to respond to shocks and disturbances) 	 A. What indicators have been collected about resilient food systems? B. What does the evidence say about the relationship between [robust] local/ regional food systems and vulnerability to disturbances (or disruption)^d/ or recovery from disturbances? C. What does the evidence say about the relationship between [robust] local/ regional food systems and resilience?
	ii. Health Promoting	Access to human/ society produced food environments (e.g. grocery stores, healthy food, food delivery services, farmers markets/food markets)	 Availability of, and distance to, grocery stores Access to healthy food – specific to the amount of healthy food in stores Spatio-temporal access to grocery stores (especially in rural communities and lower income neighbourhoods) Zoning for food availability Community approaches to addressing access to healthy food 	 A. Does the evidence demonstrate a relationship between (human built) food environments and access to healthy food? B. Does the evidence demonstrate that community food programs can impact health (e.g. social connectedness, mental health, etc.)? C. What indicators have been collected in these areas?
Capacity		Influencing food security or food insecurity (income) policy	 Participation in policy change and policy implementation Advocacy methods 	 A. Has "food cost" (relative to income, cost of living, etc.) been used as a tool to influence food security (income) policy? B. i. Can participation or advocacy be linked to change in policy? B. ii. Have any indicators been developed to measure methods used to influence food security or food systems policy? (food policy general)? If no, can indicators be generated based on a theory of change related to advocacy and policy change?

a. The health authorities and the Ministry of Health were asked what information was most important to measure within each theme. These are solely based on stakeholder input and are not necessarily reflective of the literature. b. No search required. Just record CCHS indicators.

c. Literature from 2016-2018 only to be reviewed for 3.B. as information prior available in: PHSA Priority health equity indicators household food insecurity indicator report (2016)
 d. To be defined by researcher (e.g. disruption vs disturbance). Refers to short term issues such as transportation blockages, emergencies, etc.



© 2019 BCCDC

Appendix 2: Literature search strategies

Household food insecurity

We ran the searches for HFI and FV/health together. Medline was searched first, returning 141 records (after duplicates were removed); 56 records for HFI and FV and 85 records for HFI and health. After some discussion, an expanded search for HFI and health was run to include "perceived health", "child development" and the United States. The expanded search resulted in an additional 262 records (after duplicates were removed), for a total of 403 records. The food affordability search was run in Medline via Ovid and Sociological Abstracts, returning 164 records (after duplicates were removed). Overall, 567 unique records were retrieved.

To narrow down the records, the title and abstract were scanned for relevance based on predetermined inclusion criteria. From this, 40 articles were reviewed in full for HFI and FV/health and 24 articles for food affordability. Grey literature sources were collected from online searches using the same terms as those used for the peer-reviewed literature search. Snowball methods, which is pursuing the references of references, for both grey literature and peer-reviewed sources was also done. Overall, eight grey literature sources were reviewed for use as documents focusing on indicators. Six grey literature sources (three of which also focused on indicators) and 29 peer-reviewed sources were screened in for use as documents focusing on the relationship to FV, health or food affordability.

Food environment

We used an iterative process to refine the search strategy for peer-reviewed literature. The researcher began by reviewing the priority areas identified by the working group and scanning the grey literature and review articles provided. She also discussed the current state of the science and some forthcoming metrics with Dr. Michael Widener (CANUE project, University of Toronto). She then drafted an initial list of search terms and databases for each of the following priority areas: 1) Availability of, and distance to, grocery stores; 2) Access to healthy food—Amount of healthy food in stores; 3) Spatio-temporal access to grocery stores; 4) Zoning for food availability; 5) Community approaches to addressing access to healthy food.

The researcher refined the terms following discussion and test searches by the information specialist. Medline and Urban Studies Abstracts were searched for all priority areas; these databases provide comprehensive coverage of health and built environment literature. Social Sciences Citation Index, Social Work Abstracts, and PsychINFO were searched in relation to community approaches to capture articles from the community development and social sciences literature.

After duplicates were removed, a total of 767 bibliographic records were retrieved from all databases. A title and abstract scan eliminated records that did not fit the a priori inclusion criteria. Typical examples of eliminated articles were focused on taxation, clinical nutrition, pharmaceutical research and school nutrition policy that did not relate to the physical environment. The remaining bibliographic records were coded for priority area and country. The Canada studies were further coded to identify review articles and articles about measures and indicators. Seventy-seven articles were retrieved as full text but supplemented with additional articles from bibliographic review.

The researcher searched the grey literature to identify where indicators were being used. This involved a Google search for <"food environments" and (indicator or measure)>. The Individual Source Assessment spreadsheet from the Linkages Toolkit Food Systems review (July 14, 2016) was scanned for additional review articles, which were included in the evidence summary based on the information obtained from this spreadsheet. The original articles were not reviewed due to time constraints, but the researcher was involved in supervising the Linkages Toolkit literature review and was confident of the quality of the search and summary in this spreadsheet.

Search terms specifically related to indicators were not used, as we anticipated that those articles would be identified by the topical search terms. When the researcher noticed that some key studies were being identified in the bibliographic review, an additional search of Medline and Google Scholar using the keywords <"food environments" and "Canada" and "indicators"> was done but did not identify any additional sources.

Ultimately, 30 sources were reviewed as indicated. An additional 42 articles were categorized, but not followed up (due to time and resource constraints, lack of relevance to local context and where deemed out of scope) except where a direct link to health or food security outcomes was also measured. A list of individual studies that were scanned but not reviewed in detail due to scope or time constraints is organized according to priority topic area in a supplementary document provided.

Food resilience

First, the researcher collected grey literature from online searches using the potential key terms, and a snowball method with literature already known by the researcher as a starting point. A total of 35 grey literature reports were retrieved. From the 35 grey literature reports, key terms were further refined for use in searching academic databases.

The search strategy for peer-reviewed literature through academic databases was iterative. Web of Science (WOS) was searched first, with 1,257 records retrieved (after duplicates removed). The search strategy was then slightly modified to search CAB, where an additional 1,882 records were retrieved (after duplicates were removed). Together, 3,139 bibliographic records were retrieved from both databases.

To narrow down the records retrieved from WOS and CAB, the researcher reviewed the title and abstract for relevance to the topic area and fit with pre-determined inclusion criteria. Based on the review of title and abstract, 122 articles were downloaded.

Next, she examined the 35 grey literature reports and the 122 articles from WOS and CAB in more detail through an iterative process. First, articles were scanned in full and either for indicator themes that emerged, or eliminated if found not to be relevant. A total of 75 articles that were found to not fit with the theme or the pre-determined inclusion criteria were eliminated. One common example of articles eliminated would be those focused on the contribution of local food systems to the resilience of a community/region/household, rather than on what contributes to the resilience of those food systems themselves. Another group of articles eliminated were those that used the term "resilience" as a synonym for "sustainability" but did not delve into the concept or attributes of a resilient system more deeply.

After articles were scanned and coded for indicator themes, the researcher identified logical groupings of these themes. These theme groupings ultimately became the "indicator categories" presented in the final indicator summary spreadsheet. After indicator categories were established, articles relating to each indicator category were reviewed in more detail to determine specific indicators and to populate corresponding information into the indicator summary spreadsheet. Ultimately, a total of 46 documents, including 34 peer reviewed studies, were screened in for use.

Influencing policy

Unlike other themes where the research librarian conducted an academic search of publications, the research coordinator completed both grey and academic literature searches for this theme. She approached it this way, as: i) a theoretical foundation model for policy influence was first required, ii) a clear scope or definition for this theme area had not been determined and iii) very little published research is available in this area.

The search was iterative and moved back and forth between the grey and the academic literature. She began the review with an examination of theory of change policy models. Once the "policy window" theory was chosen as the initial theoretical framework—to ensure relevancy—a Google Scholar search was completed to search for examples of its use in the literature in public health and nutrition policy and advocacy. The research coordinator sent a request to the advisory committee for grey literature related to this area, and a key paper was provided by Elaine Power on influencing policy with the National Nutritious Food Basket.

Appendix 3. Results: indicator summary tables

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Household Food Insecurity	Existing	Prevalence of HFI	Bickel, Nord, Price et al., 2000; Hamilton, Cook, Thompson et al., 1997a, 1997b; Nord & Bickel, 2002	

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
HFI and FV Servings	Existing	HFI and Number of FV Servings per Day (proportion of population that eats 5 or more servings of fruits and vegetables per day)		Kirkpatrick et al., 2008; Miewald et al., 2012; MHMC, 2016; Huet et al., 2012
HFI and FV Frequency	Existing	HFI and FV frequency (proportion of population that eats fruits and vegetables 5 or more times per day)		PHSA, 2016
Household Income and FV Servings	Existing	Income Quintiles and Number of FV Servings (proportion of population that eats 5 or more servings of fruits and vegetables per day)		Tarasuk et al., 2010
Household Income and FV Frequency	Existing	Income Quartiles relative to Low Income Cut Off (LICO) and FV Frequency (proportion of population that eats fruits and vegetables 5 or more times per day)		PHSA, 2010
Hunger and FV Frequency (Child)	Existing	Hunger (prevalence of ever experiencing hunger because run out of food or money to buy more/ frequency of experiencing hunger) and FV Frequency		Findlay et al., 2013

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
HFI and	Existing	A) HFI and Breastfeeding Initiation		Orr et al., 2018
Breastfeeding		B) HFI and Duration of Exclusive Breastfeeding		
HFI and Cognition (child)	Existing	HFI and likelihood of meeting academic expectations		Faught et al., 2017
HFI and BMI (child)	Existing	A) HFI and Prevalence of ObesityB) HFI and Likelihood (Odds) of Being Overweight/Obese		Mark et al., 2012; Bhawra et al., 2017
HFI and Diabetes (child)	New	Prevalence of HFI among Diabetics		Marjerrison et al., 2011
HFI and Mental Health (child)	Existing	A) HFI and Likelihood of Persistent Hyperactivity/InattentionB) Hunger and Child Symptoms of Depression and Suicide Ideation		Melchoir et al., 2012; McIntyre et al., 2013
Hunger and General Health (child)	Existing	 A) Hunger (prevalence of ever experiencing hunger because run out of food or money to buy more/ frequency of experiencing hunger) and Prevalence of Perceived General Health B) Hunger (prevalence of ever experiencing hunger because run out of food or money to buy more/ frequency of experiencing hunger) and Likelihood (odds) of Chronic Conditions 		Kirkpatrick et al., 2010
HFI and General Health	Existing	HFI and Prevalence of Perceived General Health		PHSA, 2016; MHMC, 2016; Willows et al., 2011
HFI and Mortality	Existing	HFI and All Cause Mortality		Gundersen et al., 2018
HFI and BMI	Existing	HFI and Prevalence of Obesity		PHSA, 2016; Lyons, 2008

Table 4. Results: Household food insecurity and health conditions summary

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
HFI and Diabetes	Existing	A) HFI and Incidence of Diabetes B) HFI and Prevalence of Diabetes		Tait et al., 2018; Tarasuk et al., 2013; Galesloot et al., 2012; Gucciardi et al., 2009
HFI and Cardiovascular Disease	Existing	 A) HFI and Prevalence of Heart Disease B) HFI and Presence of Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) Risk Factors 		Tarasuk et al., 2013; Fowokan et al., 2018
HFI and Mental Health	Existing	 A) HFI and Likelihood (Odds) of Mental Health Care Service Utilization B) HFI and Risk of Adverse Mental Health Outcomes C) HFI and Prevalence of Mental Health Outcomes 		Tarasuk et al., 2018; Jessiman-Perreault et al., 2017; Martin et al., 2016; PHSA, 2016

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
HFI and Food Affordability (% income spent on food)	Existing	HFI and cost of National Nutritious Food Basket (NNFB) as % of basic expenses	Alberta Health Services, 2015	Alberta Health Services, 2015; Williams et al., 2006; FoodARC, 2015
Food Affordability and Income	Existing	Annual cost of national nutritious food basket (NNFB), as a proportion of income		PHSA, 2010
HFI and Household Economic Resources	Existing	A) HFI and household after-tax income B) HFI and after rent income		St-Germain et al., 2017
HFI and Satisfaction with Food Affordability	New	HFI and satisfaction with ability to find foods that you can afford to buy		Perez et al., 2017
Food Expenditures and After-Shelter Income	Existing	Cost of NNFB (as % of basic expenses) and Proportion of Income Allocated to Shelter		Kirkpatrick et al., 2007; Kirkpatrick et al., 2011
Food Affordability	Existing	 A) % could not afford balanced meals B) % ran out of food, with no money for more C) % could not afford to buy enough food D) % students who went to bed hungry because not enough money to buy food 		Conference Board of Canada, 2016; OECD, 2014; McCreary Centre Society, 2014
Household Spending on Food	Existing	 A) Annual household spending on food from restaurants/stores in Canada B) Annual household spending on food as a percentage of total spending by low income households 		Food Counts, 2017

Table 5. Results: Household food insecurity and food cost/affordability summary

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Zoning - prohibitive	Existing	Municipal bylaw constraints to limit the distribution of less healthy options such as fast food stores (e.g., limit number of outlets per square km; limit supply near schools, prohibit new outlets) in a given area or around schools.	Health Canada, 2013; Minaker et al., 2016; Raine et al., 2012; Black et al., 2014; Robitaille, 2009; Food-EPI Canada, 2017	Raine et al., 2012; Black, 2014; Black et al., 2014; Association pour la santé publique du Québec, n.d.
Zoning - proactive	Existing	Municipal bylaws or incentives such as tax shelters to increase the distribution of grocery stores and suppliers of fruits and veg (FV).	Health Canada, 2013; Raine et al., 2012; Black et al., 2011; Black, 2014	Raine et al., 2012
Consumer food environment assessment	New	Food availability inside local retail food outlets (e.g. supermarkets, corner stores, greengrocers, farmers markets, etc.)	Black et al., 2014; Raine et al., 2012	Caspi et al., 2012; Mhurchu et al., 2013; Gustafson et al., 2012; Rose et al., 2009
Geographic access - density	Existing	 A) Population-weighted average number of food outlets of a given category within 1000 m of dissemination block (DB) centroids per dissemination area (DA) - or other area of intersest, such as household vicinity (Mahendra et al. 2017). B) No traditional convenience stores or fast food outlets within 500m of schools (Olstad et al. 2014). C) Number of food outlets in a given area. 	Health Canada, 2013; Minaker et al., 2016; Mhurchu et al., 2013; Mahendra, Polsky et al., 2017; Ostad et al., 2014	Black et al., 2014; Minaker et al., 2013; Cobb et al., 2015; Black, 2014

Table 6. Results: Food environment indicator summary

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Geographic access - proximity	Existing	 A) Population-weighted mean network distance (m) between dissemination block (DB) centroids and nearest food outlets of a given category per dissemination area (DA) or other geographic unit of interest (Mahendra et al. 2017). B) Distance to nearest food outlets C) Average distance to an N grouping of food outlets 	Health Canada, 2013; Minaker et al., 2016; Mhurchu et al., 2013; Mahendra, Polsky et al., 2017	Black, 2014; Cobb et al., 2015; Caspi et al., 2012
Geographic access - variety	Existing	 A) Relative density (aka Modified Retail Food Environment Index, mRFEI) = ratio of unhealthy food retailers to both healthy and unhealthy food retailers within 1000 m of dissemination block (DB) centroids per dissemination area (DA) (or larger geographic area such as census tract, administrative division, or neighbourhood) (Mahendra et al. 2017). B) at least 10 on mRFEI across all census areas and at least 7 across impoverished census areas to indicate "high availability of food stores and restaurants selling primarily healthy foods" (Ostad et al. 2014). 	Mhurchu et al., 2013; Mahendra, Polsky et al., 2017; Olstad et al., 2014	Black et al., 2014; Mhurchu et al., 2013

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Spatio-temporal access (i.e., activity space access)	New	 Spatio-temporal or activity space access = geographic access (theoretical or potential access) + life circumstances related to time and travel patterns (realized or actual access) A) Modified Retail Food Availability Index (forthcoming from CANUE) B) Relative accessibility deprivation indicators (Paez et al 2010): Average distance travelled Accessibility to food services by income status and vehicle ownership Relative access to retail and fast food by income status Relative access to retail and fast food by low-income individuals 	Widener et al., 2018; Widener, 2014; Caspi et al., 2012;	Wldener et al., 2018; Cobb et al., 2015; Caspi et al., 2012; Thornton et al., 2010 cited in Caspi; Hillier et al., 2011 & Sharkey, 2009 cited in Caspi; Thornton et al., 2011, cited in Caspi
Geographic access - general	N/A	NOTE: This row includes some general evidence that applies to indicators of geographic food retail access in general, but not to any one specific measure or indicator included in this spreadsheet. I advise considering this evidence in relation to rows 5, 6, and 7 for sure, and possibly to row 2.		Minaker et al., 2016; Caspi et al., 2012; Health Canada, 2013; Cobb et al., 2015
Community food programs	New	Programs to increase relative affordability of healthier foods (e.g., subsidies that reduce the retail price of fruits and vegetables)		An, 2013; Faulkner et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2011; Thow et al., 2014; Mozaffarian et al., 2012
Community food programs	New	Availability of community garden programs		BC Centre for Disease Control, 2018

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Community food programs	New	Availability of school garden programs	Davis et al., 2015; Robinson-O'Brien et al., 2009	Davis et al., 2015; Robinson-O'Brien et al., 2009; BC Centre for Disease Control, 2018
Transportation access	New	Availability of public transit or alternatives	Caspi et al., 2012; Hollander Analytical, 2013	Caspi et al., 2012

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Access/ Consumption Household food security	Existing	N/A - see column K note	James & Friel, 2015	Tyler et al., 2013; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2010; Toth, Rendall, & Reitsma, 2016; Luca, Mane, & Romano, 2008
System-Wide Vulnerability of food system infrastructure to "rapid onset hazards" (e.g. natural disasters/ shocks)	Existing	 A) Types and number of food transportation options into urban areas (Freight Analysis Framework) B) Location of food transportation infrastructure (roads, bridges, ports, airports, ferry terminals) relative to expected hazard locations (locations vulnerable to natural shocks including flood, tsunami, landslide, earthquake, sea-level rise, forest fire, heat wave, ice/snow storm) C) Location of urban food facilities (warehouses, grocery stores, shelters and food banks) relative to expected hazard locations (locations vulnerable to natural shocks including flood, tsunami, landslide, earthquake, sea- level rise) D) Location of farming areas relative to expected hazard locations (locations vulnerable to natural shocks including flood, tsunami, landslide, earthquake, sea-level rise) 	Dell, 2009; Biehl, Buzogany, Baja, & Neff, 2018 ^a ; Biehl, Buzogany, Huang, Chodur, & Neff, 2017 ^a ; City of Toronto Medical Officer of Health, 2018 ^a ; Zeuli, Nijhuis, & Gerson-nieder, 2018 ^a ; New York City Economic Development Corporation; NYC Mayor's Office of Recovery & Resiliency, 2016 ^a ; Zeuli & Nijhuis, 2017 ^a ; Zeuli, Nijhuis, & Murphy, 2015 ^a	Biehl, Buzogany, Baja, & Neff, 2018; Smith, Lawrence, MacMahon, Muller, & Brady, 2016; Smith et al., 2016; Paci-Green & Berardi, 2015; Bonini, 2014

Table 7. Results: Food system resilience indicator summary

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Supply Chain Diversity / Redundancy	New	Ideas/proposed indicators (these will likely need to be refined based on data availability, interest, and capacity as this is a new indicator. See column E for further comments): A) Wholesale and retail suppliers source from a diversity of farms and regions locally, regionally, globally (metric: food self-reliance balance, which is also measured under "Production: Capacity for local/ regional food production") B) Food is distributed and sold in the region via a diversity of food retail and wholesale businesses (metric: nmber of retail and wholesale food providers by region and by business type or size) C) Food is available through emergency food providers in addition to market food providers (metric: # food banks/regional district or municipality)	Holling, 1973; Smith et al., 2016; Vieira, Serrao-Neumann, Howes, & Mackey, 2018	Smith et al., 2016; Schipanski et al., 2016

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Production Agricultural diversity/ redundancy across scales	Existing	 A) FARM SCALE: On-farm ecological diversity (# farms certified organic, # farms with environmental farm plan) B) REGIONAL SCALE: Spatial heterogeneity of rural areas (rural areas exhibit a mix of agricultural and natural landscapes) C) PROVINCIAL SCALE: Economic diversification of the agriculture sector; numerous successful ag commodities/industries are present rather than a few dominating (ag sector revenue by crop type or by industry) Diversity of farm sizes (# farms by size) Diversity of production - Shannon Index (see citation for this in column E) 	Holling, 1973; Altieri, Nicholls, Henao, & Lana, 2015; Ashkenazy et al., 2018; Bullock et al., 2017; Cabel & Oelofse, 2012; Dell, 2009; International Sustainability Unit, 2011; Jones et al., 2013; McDonald & Stukenbrock, 2016; Peterson, Eviner, & Gaudin, 2018; Schipanski et al., 2016, Worstell & Green, 2017; Ciccarese & Silli, 2016; Green et al., 2017; Peterson et al., 2018; Standing Committee on Agriculture and Agri- Food, 2018; Toth et al., 2016; Dell, 2009	Remans, Wood, Saha, Anderman, & DeFries, 2014; Altieri, Nicholls, Henao, & Lana, 2015
Production Agricultural input sustainability, security or self- sufficiency	New	Specific metrics were not able to be identified (see spreadsheets for more information). Ideas/Important Components/Themes - Water availability Nutrient availability (phosphorous, nutrient cycling) Energy security Seed security	Vernooy, Sthapit, Otieno, Shrestha, & Gupta, 2017; De Amorim et al., 2018; Vieira et al., 2018	Dell, 2009

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Production Economic performance	Existing	 A) Economic status of farm owner operators (indicator: farm revenue vs. operating expenses) B) Economic status of farm workers (indicator: average farm worker wages vs. living wage) C) Farming is an attractive career to a new generation of farmers (Farms with written succession plans; average age of farmers) 	Ruhf, 2015; Seekell et al., 2017; Cabel & Oelofse, 2012; Toth et al., 2016; Vieira et al., 2018; Tendall et al., 2015; Chiu & Polasub, 2014; Knickel et al., 2018	N/A
Production Capacity for local/regional food production	Existing	 A) Urban Food Production: Area available for urban agriculture over time (e.g. area or # community gardens or # community garden plots, measured annually) B) Rural Food Production: Agricultural land availability, annually (# hectares) Agricultural land utilization for food production, annually (# hectares) C) Food Self-Reliance Balance Local food production vs. demand quantity of food imports production of healthy foods Need to convey that a balance must be struck (e.g. 100% self-reliance is not resilient) 	Barthel, Parker, & Ernstson, 2015; Ruhf, 2015; Paci-Green & Berardi, 2015; Cabel & Oelofse, 2012	Ruhf, 2015

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Province/System- Wide Social capital	New	Theme Areas: A) knowledge translation, mobilization, dissemination B) social equity	Blay-Palmer, Sonnino, & Custot, 2016; Bulla & Steelman, 2016; Cabel & Oelofse, 2012; a et al., 2018; Milestad, Westberg, Geber & Bjorklund, 2010; Vieira et al., 2018	N/A
Province/System- Wide Food system planning	New	Specific metrics were not able to be identified (see spreadsheets for more information). Concept: Food systems are given consideration in the planning process and governance Potential indicator: Number of local gov'ts that have one or more of the following in place: food system plan/ policy, food system vulnerability assessment, disaster preparedness plan addressing food, staff dedicated to food systems planning, staff dedicated to emergency preparedness	Paci-Green & Berardi, 2015; Vieira et al., 2018	N/A

a. Note these references demonstrate that the indicators are used in vulnerability assessments.

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Strategy: Define the problem (includes framing the problem, research, and indicator tracking)	Existing (A,C,D,E) New (B)	 A) % communities with a food security needs and assets assessment B) % communities with vulnerability assessment C) #/ type collaborations with research institutions (including Universities and colleges) D) # food charters developed and adopted E) Presence of a mechanism for assembling and analysing data to monitor/ evaluate and inform policy making (could indicate different levels, e.g. provincial, municipal) 	Provincial Health Services Authority, 2008; Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, 2018; Levkoe, Lefebvre & Blay- Palmer, 2017; Seed, 2018	MacRae & Donahue, 2013; Organizational Research Services, 2007; Field, Gauld & Lawrence 2016
Strategy: Develop policy solutions	Existing (A) New (B-E)	 A) Presence of food/food security in policy or strategy and/ or action plans B) Development of policy proposals C) Educational briefings to government leadership 	Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, 2018; Organizational Research Services, 2007	Cullerton et al., 2016
Strategies: Strengthen internal organizational capacity (includes relationships, credibility, ability to identify policy window, ability to "couple" streams).	Existing (A) New (B-D)	 A) Actions taken by organizations in identifying and acting upon policy windows. B) #/ type of policy change skill development C) Presentations/ reports/ communication of problem/ solution within Health Authorities (Board; MHOs; management) 	Organizational Research Services, 2007; Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, 2018	Sherb et al., 2012; Cullerton et al., 2016; Seed et al., 2014

Table 8. Results: Influencing food policy general

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Strategies: Influence the political climate through coalition building	Existing (A,D,E,F) New (B,C,G)	 A) Proportion of communities where community food coalition building is supported through the CFAI. B) Increased number of partners C) Increased level of collaboration D) # municipal food policy coalitions E) # food system networks F) % communities with intersectoral food councils G) Improved alignment of partnership efforts (e.g. Collective Impact objectives) 	Provincial Health Services Authority: Population and Public Health, 2010; Organizational Research Services, 2007; Levkoe, Lefebvre & Blay- Palmer, 2017; Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, 2018; Provincial Health Services Authority, 2008.	Levkoe, 2015; BC Healthy Communities Society et al., 2013; Cullerton et al., 2016; Seed et al., 2013; Schiff, 2008; Gupta et al., 2018
Strategies: Influence the political climate (advocacy efforts)	Existing (A,B) New (C)	 A) #/ type policy related activities (policy brief; testimony; meeting with policy maker) B) # and type media events (print story; radio or tv broadcast; press release; interview; news briefing) C) Campaign to engage public 	White Mountain Research Associates, 2009; Organizational Research Services, 2007	Cullerton et al., 2016
Intermediate term outcomes: shift in social norms	New	Increased agreement on definition of problem	Organizational Research Services, 2007	
Intermediate term outcomes: change in capacity (increased ability to create/ recognize/ respond to policy window effectively)	Existing (B) New (A,C,D)	 A) Increased number of partners B) Increased level of collaboration (i.e. 1.networking; 2. cooperation; 3. coordination; 4. coalition; 5. collaboration) C) Improved alignment of partnership efforts (e.g. Collective Impact). D) Strategic alliances with important partners 	Organizational Research Services, 2007; White Mountain Research Associates, 2009	MacRae & Donahue, 2013

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
		A) Increased public involvement		
		 B) Increased level of actions taken by champions C) Increased breadth of partners (e.g. unlikely allies) D) Increased media coverage Organizational 		Cullerton et al., 2016; MacRae & Donahue, 2013
Intermediate			Organizational	
strengthened	New	E) Increased awareness of campaign	Research Services,	
base of support		selected groups (e.g. policy makers,		
		general public, opinion leaders)		
		F) Increased visibility of campaign		
		message (e.g. presence of campaign		
		G) Changes in public will		

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Longer term outcomes: policy changes	Existing (A,B,Eii, F) New (C, D, Ei))	 A) Presence of food policy that supports food security within health authorities B) # food charters developed and adopted C) # OCPs containing FS initiatives D.i) Policy development; policy adoption; policy implementation; policy enforcement D.ii) Policy events (Changed law; Changed regulation; Changed policy; Used to inform new policy/program design and/or practice; Used to modify existing policy/program design and/or practice; Used to provide general background information; Led to or contributed to evidence-based guidelines; Influenced policy process; Influenced enforcement; Influenced policy implementation; Used to allocate resources for programs/interventions; Other policy impact type, please specify:) See "K" for definition of "policy event") Level of policy impact (National; Provincial; Regional; Local; Private Company/Corporation; Nonprofit organization; University/ college; Schools or school systems; Judicial/legal; Other level, please specify 	Provincial Health Services Authority: Population and Public Health, 2010; Seed, 2018; Organizational Research Services, 2007; White Mountain Research Associates, 2009	BC Healthy Communities Society et al., 2013

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Longer term outcomes: changes in social and/ or physical conditions	New and existing	Improved social and physical conditions (e.g. access to food during emergencies; improved income if looking a HFI at provincial/federal level)		

Table 9. Results: Influencing food policy with National Nutritious Food Basket

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Strategies: Define the problem (includes framing the problem, research, and indicator tracking)	New	 A) Completion of yearly NNFB (research) B) # Health Authorities/ organizations framing food insecurity as arising from income inadequacy C) #/ type collaborations with research institutions (including Universities and colleges) 	Organizational Research Services, 2007; Levkoe, Lefebvre & Blay- Palmer, 2017	Power, 2018; Field, Gauld & Lawrence, 2016; Nova Scotia Nutrition Council and Atlantic Health Promotion Research Centre, 2005
Strategies: Develop policy solutions	New	 A) # Health Authorities/ organizations communicating income as the solution. B) Development of policy proposals C) Educational briefings to government leaders 	Organizational Research Services, 2007	Nova Scotia Nutrition Council and Atlantic Health Promotion Research Centre, 2005

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Strategies: Strengthen internal organizational capacity (includes relationships, credibility, ability to identify policy window, ability to "couple" streams)	New	 A) # presentations/ reports/ communication of NNFB research (including problem and policy solutions) within Health Authorities (Board; MHOs, Management) B) Actions taken by organizations in identifying and acting upon policy windows. C) #/ type of policy change skill development for advocates 	Organizational Research Services, 2007	Power, 2018; Seed et al., 2014; Cullerton et al., 2016
Strategies: Influence the political climate (coalition building)	New	 A) # organizations endorsing NNFB B) # coalitions using NNFB as a standard indicator (?)/ # publications citing provincial NNFB results C) Partnerships established with priority partners D) Website activity for NNFB on Gateway site 	Organizational Research Services, 2007	Cullerton et al., 2016; Seed et al., 2013
Strategies: Influence the political climate (advocacy efforts)	New	 A) #/ type policy related activities (policy brief; testimony; meeting with policy maker). B) # and type media events (print story; radio or tv broadcast; press release; interview; news briefing) 	White Mountain Research Associates, 2009; Organizational Research Services, 2007	Power, 2018
Intermediate term outcomes: shift in social norms	New	Shift in framing food insecurity as arising from income inadequacy, as measured by: i. survey results; ii. media scan	Organizational Research Services, 2007	

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Intermediate term outcomes: change in capacity (increased ability to create/ recognize/ respond to policy window effectively)	New	 A) Identification, creation of or responding to policy window B) Increased level of collaboration with external organizations (i.e. 1.networking; 2. cooperation; 3. coordination; 4. coalition; 5. collaboration) 	Organizational Research Services, 2007	
Intermediate term outcomes: strengthened base of support	New	 A) Increased public involvement B) Increased level of actions taken by champions C) Increased breadth of partners (e.g. unlikely allies) D) Increased media coverage E) Increased awareness of campaign principles and messages among selected groups (e.g. policy makers, general public, opinion leaders) F) Increased visibility of campaign message (e.g. presence of campaign message in media) G) Changes in public will 	Organizational Research Services, 2007	Nova Scotia Nutrition Council and Atlantic Health Promotion Research Centre, 2005

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Longer term outcomes: policy changes	New	 A) Policy development; policy adoption; policy implementation; policy enforcement. B) # poverty reduction strategies citing NNFB C) Policy events where NNFB was used (Changed law; Changed regulation; Changed policy; Used to inform new policy/program design and/or practice; Used to modify existing policy/program design and/ or practice; Used to provide general background information; Led to or contributed to evidence-based guidelines; Influenced policy process; Influenced enforcement; Influenced policy implementation; Used to allocate resources for programs/ interventions; Other policy impact type, please specify:) See "K" for definition of "policy event" D) Level of policy impact (Federal; State; Local; Private Company/ Corporation; Nonprofit organization; University/ college; Schools or school systems; Judicial/legal; Other level, please specify) 	Organizational Research Services, 2007; White Mountain Research Associates, 2009	
Longer term outcomes: impacts on conditions	New	Improved social and physical conditions (e.g. poverty, health, other outcome measures?)	Organizational Research Services, 2007	

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Strategies: Capacity building and mobilization	Existing (A) New (B-D)	 A) Proportion of communities where community food coalition building is supported through the CFAI. B) # food security or food policy coalitions C) % communities with intersectoral food councils D) # grants available in HA area to strengthen organizational capacity in food security organizations 	Provincial Health Services Authority: Population and Public Health, 2010; Levkoe, Lefebvre & Blay- Palmer, 2017; Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, 2018; Provincial Health Services Authority, 2008	BC Healthy Communities Society et al., 2013; Levkoe, 2015; Schiff, 2008; Gupta et al., 2018
Strategies: Training for capacity building	New	A) Leadership training B) Advocacy skills training	Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, 2018; Organizational Research Services, 2007	Cullerton et al., 2016
Strategies: Action research	Existing	 A) Involvement in food security assessment in local area (e.g. needs, assets or vulnerability assessments) B) Involvement in research projects C) # food charters developed and adopted 	Provincial Health Services Authority, 2008; Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, 2018; Levkoe, Lefebvre & Blay- Palmer, 2017; Seed, 2018	Organizational Research Services, 2007; Field, Gauld & Lawrence, 2016
Intermediate term outcomes: shift in social norms (increase awareness; increased agreement; increased sense of power)	New	 A) Increased alignment of partnership efforts B) Changes in public will C) Perception of individual and group power 	Organizational Research Services, 2007	

Table 10. Results: Influencing food policy with Community Food Action Initiative

Indicator Category (association between)	Existing or New?	Indicator Area (association between)	High quality evidence supporting the area as an indicator	Evidence supporting a relationship between indicator and food security/ health outcomes
Intermediate term outcomes: Increased capacity to engage in process	Existing (B) New (A,C,D, E, F, G)	 A) Increased number and breadth (e.g. unlikely allies) of partners B) Increased level of collaboration (i.e. 1.networking; 2. cooperation; 3. coordination; 4. coalition; 5. collaboration) C) Improved alignment of partnership efforts (e.g. Collective Impact). D) Strategic alliances with important partners E) Champions/ leaders in place F) Advocates trained G) Presentations/ reports/ communication of problem/ solution (issue?) with decision-makers OR public 	Organizational Research Services, 2007; White Mountain Research Associates, 2009	MacRae & Donahue, 2013
Intermediate term outcomes: Increase public involvement in issue	New	 A) Increased public involvement B) Increased level of actions taken by champions C) Increased media coverage D) Increased awareness of campaign principles and messages among selected groups (e.g. general public, opinion leaders) E) Increased visibility of campaign message (e.g. presence of campaign message in media) F) Meetings with [government] decision makers 	Organizational Research Services, 2007	Cullerton et al., 2016

Appendix 4. Advisory committee feedback

Looking first to HFI, advisory committee members pointed out the importance of clarifying the intent of the indicators. In many of these instances, we are proposing that a prioritized indicator is linked to other indicators (e.g. HFI with fruit and vegetable consumption, health condition). The group discussed the need to be clear that we are looking at associations between the two indicators and not suggesting that there is a casual relationship between them. On the other hand, while we may not have identified causation studies between HFI and health outcomes, others believe that there is strong evidence to suggest there are some causal mechanisms that link HFI and health outcomes. It was suggested that Valerie Tarasuk would be a good person to offer insights into this question.

A concern was noted about using the indicator of fruit and vegetable consumption, as this measure has also been critiqued for pushing fruit and vegetables onto populations who may not traditionally eat them. Concern about the use of body mass index was expressed, given the emerging evidence questioning the efficacy of using weight as a measure of health.

In relation to the food environment theme, the committee discussed the quality of food at food banks, which was not within the identified sub-themes for this project. While the quality of food in these programs is important, use of food bank and other food programs are not necessarily reflective of food insecurity in the community. The group discussed the idea of a broad indicator to assess where people are getting their food as a way of looking at where/how vulnerable populations are accessing food. This could extend to school breakfast/lunch programs. A discussion was also held about the inclusion of Indigenous food environments and the Regional Health Survey data used to capture food insecurity on-reserve.

The discussion of food resilience pointed to gaps, including indicators around harvesting which could include subcategories such as fishing and forest foods, labour (e.g. shortage in primary production), post-production capacity (e.g. not enough processing facilities), resource availability and competition (i.e. water, land) and the health of these resources, and farming method (in relation to physical and ecological resilience). Even if the gaps cannot all be addressed, noting where the gaps exist is an important step. Further economic performance (and maybe longevity) of food retails could be useful, querying what additional indicators could be used to capture resiliency through boom-bust cycle in resource-industry dependent communities.

On the theme of influencing food policy, there was no strong consensus either supporting or not supporting the use of the policy models as a foundation for the development of indicators for this theme. A score card methodology (e.g. where health authorities can check if certain policies exist in municipalities) was suggested. One member underscored the importance of not putting undue pressures on health authorities to influence things where they do not have much influence.

Looking at the indicator themes as a whole, advisory members noted that there are often nuances in indicators which can impact how they are interpreted. As an example, if you live in a food desert and a big box grocery store comes in, it could be considered a good thing as there is now food access. However, the store could have low wage practices which could actually contribute to greater food insecurity. Using a combination of indicators or incorporating qualitative data could help to address this issue. Another academic noted that it may be helpful to note contraindications for each indicator.

The issue of relevance of the "effect" aspect of the impact indicator category^{vi} in the Framework was questioned mostly in relation to HFI and the variables included in composite indicator areas; there was concern that these represent association but not causality. There was discussion that some research does show causality. This is an area that will need to be addressed/clarified for all the final indicators.

Finally, it was expressed that we need to ensure our work is aligned with provincial messaging.

Impact indicators in the framework can include both "exposure" indicators and "effect" indicators. Exposure indicators are any factors that may be associated with an outcome of interest (e.g. % of population exposed to hunger due to lack of income). Effect indicators describe a wide range of health such as morbidity and mortality rates.



References

- 1. Critical Appraisal Skills Programme. CASP: Qualitative research checklist. England: Public Health Resource Unit; 2018 [cited 2018 September 8]. Available from: https://casp-uk.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/CASP-Qualitative-Checklist-2018.pdf
- 2. Bickel G, Nord M, Price C, Hamilton W, Cook J. Guide to Measuring Household Food Security. In: United States Department of Agriculture, editor. Alexandria, VA: USDA; 2000.
- Hamilton W, Cook J, Thompson W, Buron L, Frongillo E, Olson C, et al. Household Food Security in the United States in 1995 Technical Report of the Food Security Measurement Project. In: USDA, editor. Alexandria, VA: USDA; 1997.
- 4. Hamilton W, Cook J, Thompson W, Buron L, Frongillo E, Olson C, et al. Household Food Security in the United States in 1995. Summary Report of the Food Security Measurement Project. In: USDA, editor. Alexandria, VA: USDA; 1997.
- Alberta Health Services. The affordability of health eating in Alberta 2015. Alberta Health Services; 2017 [cited 2018 Oct 24]. Available from: www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/info/nutrition/if-nfs-affordability-ofhealthy-eating.pdf
- 6. Hollander Analytical Services Ltd. Core Public Health Functions for BC Evidence Review: Food Security. In: Population and Public Health, editor. Victoria, BC: BC Ministry of Health; 2013.
- 7. Dietitians of Canada. Individual and Household Food Insecurity in Canada: Position of Dietitians of Canada. Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research. 2005;66:43-6.
- 8. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A, Dachner N. Household food insecurity in Canada, 2012. Toronto, ON: PROOF Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity; 2014.
- 9. Huet C, Rosol R, Egeland GM. The prevalence of food insecurity is high and the diet quality poor in Inuit communities. Journal of Nutrition. 2012;142:541-7.
- 10. Li N, Dachner N, Tarasuk V, Zhang R, Kurrein M, Harris T, et al. Priority health equity indicators for British Columbia: Household food insecurity report. Vancouver, BC: Provincial Health Services Authority; 2016.
- PROOF Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity. Household Food Insecurity in Canada: A Guide to Measurement and Interpretation. Toronto, ON: PROOF - Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity; 2018 [cited 2018 Dec 1]. Available from: https://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/ Household-Food-Insecurity-in-Canada-A-Guide-to-Measurement-and-Interpretation.pdf
- 12. Kirkpatrick SI, Tarasuk V. Food insecurity is associated with nutrient inadequacies among Canadian adults and adolescents. Erratum appears in J Nutr. 2008 Jul;138(7):1399. Journal of Nutrition. 2008;138:604-12.
- 13. Miewald C, Holben D, Hall P. Role of a Food Box Program: In Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and Food Security. Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research. 2012;73:59-65.
- 14. Vancouver Coastal Health, Fraser Health. My Health My Community. Data Summary Sheets: Food Insecurity. British Columbia: My Health My Community; 2016. Available from: https://www.myhealthmycommunity.org/ Portals/0/Documents/Data%20Summary%20Sheets/VCH_FH%20data%20summary%20sheet%20-%20 food%20insecurity_FINAL.pdf
- 15. Tarasuk V, Fitzpatrick S, Ward H. Nutrition inequities in Canada. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism. 2010;35:172-9.



- 16. Provincial Health Services Authority. Implementing Food Security Indicators Phase II: Food Security Indicators Project. Vancouver, BC: Provincial Health Services Authority; 2010.
- 17. Findlay LC, Langlois KA, Kohen DE. Hunger among Inuit children in Canada. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2013;72(1):20324-9.
- 18. Garriguet D. Diet quality in Canada. Health Reports. 2009;20:1-12.
- 19. Dietitians of Canada. Prevalence, Severity and Impact of Household Food Insecurity: A Serious Public Health Issue. Dietitians of Canada; 2016 [cited 2018 Dec 1]. Available from: https://www.dietitians.ca/Downloads/ Public/HFI-Background-DC-FINAL.aspx
- 20. Orr SK, Dachner N, Frank L, Tarasuk V. Relation between household food insecurity and breastfeeding in Canada. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2018;190:E312-E9.
- 21. Faught EL, Williams PL, Willows ND, Asbridge M, Veugelers PJ. The association between food insecurity and academic achievement in Canadian school-aged children. Public Health Nutrition. 2017; 20:2778-85.
- 22. Mark S, Lambert M, O'Loughlin J, Gray-Donald K. Household Income, Food Insecurity and Nutrition in Canadian Youth. 2012;103(2):94-9.
- 23. Bhawra J, Cooke MJ, Guo Y, Wilk P. The association of household food security, household characteristics and school environment with obesity status among off-reserve First Nations and Metis children and youth in Canada: results from the 2012 Aboriginal Peoples Survey. Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada. 2017;37:77-86.
- 24. Marjerrison S, Cummings EA, Glanville NT, Kirk SF, Ledwell M. Prevalance and associations of food insecurity in children with diabetes mellitus. Journal of Pediatrics. 2011;158:607-11.
- 25. Melchior M, Chastang J, Falissard B, Galéra C, Tremblay RE, Côté SM, et al. Food Insecurity and Children's Mental Health: A Prospective Birth Cohort Study. PLOS ONE. 2012;7:e52615.
- 26. Willows N, Veugelers P, Raine K, Kuhle S. Associations between household food insecurity and health outcomes in the Aboriginal population (excluding reserves). Health Reports. 2011;22(2):15.
- 27. Gundersen C, Tarasuk V, Cheng J, de Oliveira C, Kurdyak P. Food insecurity status and mortality among adults in Ontario, Canada. PLoS ONE. 2018;13:e0202642.
- 28. Lyons A, Park J, Nelson CH. Food insecurity and obesity: a comparison of self-reported and measured height and weight. American journal of public health. 2008;98:751-7.
- 29. Tait CA, L'Abbe MR, Smith PM, Rosella LC. The association between food insecurity and incident type 2 diabetes in Canada: A population-based cohort study. PLOS ONE. 2018;13:e0195962.
- 30. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A, McLaren L, McIntyre L. Chronic Physical and Mental Health Conditions Among Adults May Increase Vulnerability to Household Food Insecurity. Journal of Nutrition. 2013;143:1785-93.
- 31. Galesloot S, McIntyre L, Fenton T, Tyminski S. Food Insecurity in Canadian Adults: Receiving Diabetes Care. Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research. 2012;73:e261-e6.
- 32. Gucciardi E, Vogt JA, DeMelo M, Stewart DE. Exploration of the relationship between household food insecurity and diabetes in Canada. Diabetes Care. 2009;32:2218-24.
- 33. Fowokan AO, Black JL, Holmes E, Seto D, Lear SA. Examining risk factors for cardiovascular disease among food bank members in Vancouver. Preventive Medicine Reports. 2018;10:359-62.



- 34. Tarasuk V, Cheng J, Gundersen C, de Oliveira C, Kurdyak P. The Relation between Food Insecurity and Mental Health Care Service Utilization in Ontario. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2018;63:557-69.
- 35. Jessiman-Perreault G, McIntyre L. The household food insecurity gradient and potential reductions in adverse population mental health outcomes in Canadian adults. SSM Popul Health. 2017;3:464-72.
- 36. Martin MS, Maddocks E, Chen Y, Gilman SE, Colman I. Food insecurity and mental illness: disproportionate impacts in the context of perceived stress and social isolation. Public Health. 2016;132:86-91.
- 37. McIntyre L, Dutton DJ, Kwok C, Emery JCH. Reduction of Food Insecurity Among Low-Income Canadian Seniors as a Likely Impact of a Guaranteed Annual Income. Canadian Public Policy. 2016;42:274-86.
- 38. Kirkpatrick SI, McIntyre L, Potestio ML. Child hunger and long-term adverse consequences for health. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine. 2010;164:754-62.
- 39. McIntyre L, Williams JVA, Lavorato DH, Patten S. Depression and suicide ideation in late adolescence and early adulthood are an outcome of child hunger. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2013;150:123-9.
- 40. Mawani FN, Gilmour H. Validation of self-rated mental health. Health Reports. 2010;21(3):61-75.
- 41. Rowland ML. Self-reported weight and height. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1990;52:1125-33.
- 42. Conference Board of Canada. Canada's Food Report Card 2016: Provincial Performance. Conference Board of Canada; 2017 [cited 2018 Oct 10]. Available from: https://www.conferenceboard.ca/e-library/abstract. aspx?did=8697
- 43. McCreary Centre Society. From Hastings Street to Haida Gwaii: Provincial Results of the 2013 BC Adolescent Health Survey. McCreary Centre Society; 2014 [cited 2018 Nov 1]. Available from: www.mcs.bc.ca/pdf/From_Hastings_Street_To_Haida_Gwaii.pdf
- 44. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Society at a Glance 2014 Highlights: Canada OECD Social Indicators. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development; 2014 [cited 2018 Nov 4]. Available from: www.oecd.org/canada/OECD-SocietyAtaGlance2014-Highlights-Canada.pdf
- 45. Levkoe C, Lefebvre R, Blay-Palmer A. Food Counts: A Pan-Canadian Sustainable Food Systems Report Card. 2017.
- 46. Williams PL, Johnson CP, Kratzmann MLV, Johnson CSJ, Anderson BJ, Chenhall C. Can households earning minimum wage in Nova Scotia afford a nutritious diet? Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2006;97(6):430-4.
- 47. Voices for Food Security in Nova Scotia. Can Nova Scotians afford to eat healthy? Report on 2015 participatory food costing. Halifax, NS: Food Action Research Centre (FoodARC), Mount Saint Vincent University; 2017.
- 48. Fafard St-Germain AA, Tarasuk V. High vulnerability to household food insecurity in a sample of Canadian renter households in government-subsidized housing. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2017;108:e129-e34.
- 49. Perez E, Roncarolo F, Potvin L. Associations between the local food environment and the severity of food insecurity among new families using community food security interventions in Montreal. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2017;108:e49-e55.
- 50. Kirkpatrick SI, Tarasuk V. Adequacy of food spending is related to housing expenditures among lower-income Canadian households. Public Health Nutrition. 2007;10:1464-73.
- 51. Kirkpatrick SI, Tarasuk V. Housing circumstances are associated with household food access among lowincome urban families. Journal of Urban Health. 2011;88:284-96.



- 52. BC Centre for Disease Control. Food Costing in BC 2017: Assessing the affordability of healthy eating. Vancouver, BC: BC Centre for Disease Control, Population and Public Health Program; 2018.
- 53. Mahendra A, Polsky JY, Robitaille E, Lefebvre M, McBrien T, Minaker LM. Geographic retail food environment measures for use in public health. Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada: Research, Policy and Practice. 2017;37:357-62.
- 54. Minaker L, Shuh A, Olstad DL, Engler-Stringer R, Black JL, Mah CL. Retail food environments research in Canada: A scoping review. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2016;107:5344.
- 55. Black JL, Carpiano RM, Fleming S, Lauster N. Exploring the distribution of food stores in British Columbia: associations with neighbourhood socio-demographic factors and urban form. Health & Place. 2011;17:961-70.
- 56. Health Canada. Measuring the Food Environment in Canada. Ottawa: Health Canada; 2013 Contract No.: Cat.: H164-155/2012E-PDF.
- 57. Rideout K, Mah CL, Minaker LM. Food Environments: An Introduction for Public Health Practice. Vancouver, BC: National Collaborating Centre for Environmental Health; 2015.
- 58. Raine KD, Muhajarine N, Spence JC, Neary NE, Nykiforuk CI. Coming to consensus on policy to create supportive built environments and community design. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2012;103:eS5-8.
- 59. Black JL. A Look to the North: Examining Food Environments in Canada. In: Morland KB, editor. Local Food Environments: Food Access in America. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2014. p. 231-69.
- 60. Black C, Moon G, Baird J. Dietary inequalities: What is the evidence for the effect of the neighbourhood food environment? Health & Place. 2014; 27:229-42.
- 61. Association pour la santé publique du Québec. The School Zone and Nutrition: Courses of Action for the Municipal Sector. Montreal: Association pour la santé publique du Québec; n.d.
- 62. Food-EPI Canada. Healthy Food Environment Policy Index (Food-EPI): British Columbia. Toronto: University of Toronto; 2017.
- 63. Grant JL, MacKay KC, Manuel PM, McHugh TL. Barriers to optimizing investments in the built environment to reduce youth obesity: policy-maker perspectives. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2010;101:237-40.
- 64. Laraia BA, Downing JM, Zhang YT, Dow WH, Kelly M, Blanchard SD, et al. Food Environment and Weight Change: Does Residential Mobility Matter?: The Diabetes Study of Northern California (DISTANCE). American Journal of Epidemiology. 2017;185:743-50.
- 65. Mhurchu CN, Vandevijvere S, Waterlander W, Thornton LE, Kelly B, Cameron AJ, et al. Monitoring the availability of healthy and unhealthy foods and non-alcoholic beverages in community and consumer retail food environments globally. Obesity Reviews. 2013;14:108-19.
- 66. Robitaille E. Geographical Indicators of the Built Environment and Services Environment Influencing Physical Activity, Diet and Body Weight: Institut national de santé publique du Québec; 2009.
- 67. Minaker LM, Shuh A, Olstad DL, Engler-Stringer R, Black JL, Mah CL. Retail food environments research in Canada: A scoping review. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2016;107:eS4-eS13.
- 68. Olstad DL, Raine KD, Nykiforuk CIJ. Development of a Report Card on Healthy Food Environments and Nutrition for Children in Canada. Preventive Medicine. 2014; 69:287-95.
- 69. Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian SV, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: A systematic review. Health & Place. 2012;18:1172-87.



- Cobb LK, Appel LJ, Franco M, Jones-Smith JC, Nur A, Anderson CAM. The relationship of the local food environment with obesity: A systematic review of methods, study quality, and results. Obesity. 2015;23:1331-44.
- 71. Vanderlee L, Goorang S, Karbasy K, Schermel A, L'Abbe M. Creating healthier food environments in Canada: Current policies and priority actions – British Columbia report. Toronto: University of Toronto; 2017.
- 72. Kelly B, Flood VM, Yeatman H. Measuring local food environments: an overview of available methods and measures. Health & Place. 2011;17:1284-93.
- 73. Minaker LM, Raine KD, Wild TC, Nykiforuk CI, Thompson ME, Frank LD. Objective food environments and health outcomes. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2013;45:289-96.
- 74. Rose D, Hutchinson PL, Bodor JN, Swalm CM, Farley TA, Cohen DA, et al. Neighborhood Food Environments and Body Mass Index: The Importance of In-Store Contents. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2009;37:214-9.
- 75. Farley TA, Rice J, Bodor JN, Cohen DA, Bluthenthal RN, Rose D. Measuring the Food Environment: Shelf Space of Fruits, Vegetables, and Snack Foods in Stores. Journal of Urban Health. 2009;86:672-82.
- 76. Lo BK, Minaker LM, Mah CL, Cook B. Development and Testing of the Toronto Nutrition Environment Measures Survey–Store (ToNEMS-S). Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior. 2016;48:723-9.e1.
- 77. Gustafson A, Hankins S, Jilcott S. Measures of the consumer food store environment: a systematic review of the evidence 2000-2011. Journal of Community Health. 2012;37:897-911.
- Widener MJ, Minaker LM, Reid JL, Patterson Z, Ahmadi TK, Hammond D. Activity space-based measures of the food environment and their relationships to food purchasing behaviours for young urban adults in Canada. Public Health Nutrition. 2018;21:2103-16.
- 79. Widener MJ, Shannon J. When are food deserts? Integrating time into research on food accessibility. Health & Place. 2014;30:1-3.
- 80. Páez A, Mercado RG, Farber S, Morency C, Roorda M. Relative Accessibility Deprivation Indicators for Urban Settings: Definitions and Application to Food Deserts in Montreal. Urban Studies. 2010;47:1415-38.
- 81. Hollander Analytical Services Ltd. Core Public Health Functions for BC Evidence Review: Food Security. Victoria, BC: BC Ministry of Health; 2013.
- 82. Davis JN, Spaniol MR, Somerset S. Sustenance and sustainability: maximizing the impact of school gardens on health outcomes. Public Health Nutrition. 2015;18:2358-67.
- 83. Robinson-O'Brien R, Story M, Heim S. Impact of garden-based youth nutrition intervention programs: a review. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. 2009;109:273-80.
- 84. An R. Effectiveness of subsidies in promoting healthy food purchases and consumption: a review of field experiments. Public Health Nutrition. 2013;16:1215-28.
- 85. Faulkner GEJ, Grootendorst P, Van Hai N, Andreyeva T, Arbour-Nicitopoulos K, Auld MC, et al. Economic instruments for obesity prevention: results of a scoping review and modified delphi survey. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity. 2011;8(1):109.
- 86. Lee JS, Fischer JG, Johnson MA. Food insecurity, food and nutrition programs, and aging: experiences from Georgia. Journal of Nutrition for the Elderly. 2010;29:116-49.

- 87. Thow AM, Jan S, Leeder S, Swinburn B. The effect of fiscal policy on diet, obesity and chronic disease: a systematic review. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2010;88:609-14.
- 88. Mozaffarian D, Afshin A, Benowitz NL, Bittner V, Daniels SR, Franch HA, et al. Population Approaches to Improve Diet, Physical Activity, and Smoking Habits. Circulation. 2012;126:1514-63.
- 89. Zeuli K, Nijhuis A, Murphy P. Resilient Food Systems, Resilient Cities: Recommendations for the City of Boston. Boston, MA: Initiative for a Competitive Inner City; 2015.
- 90. Tendall DM, Joerin J, Kopainsky B, Edwards P, Shreck A, Le QB, et al. Food system resilience: Defining the concept. Global Food Security. 2015;6:17-23.
- Tyler S, Keller M, Swanson D, Bizikova L, Hammill A, Natalia Zamudio A, et al. Climate Resilience and Food Security: A framework for Planning and Monitoring. Winnipeg, MB: International Institute for Sustainable Development; 2013.
- 92. James SW, Friel S. An integrated approach to identifying and characterising resilient urban food systems to promote population health in a changing climate. Public Health Nutrition. 2015;18:2498-508.
- 93. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Measuring Resilience: A Concept Note on the Resilience Tool. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2010.
- Alinovi L, Mane E, Romano D. Towards the Measurement of Household Resilience to Food Insecurity: An Application to Palestinian Households. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2018.
- 95. Toth A, Rendall S, Reitsma F. Resilient food systems: a qualitative tool for measuring food resilience. Urban Ecosystems. 2016;19:19-43.
- 96. Smith K, Lawrence G, MacMahon A, Muller J, Brady M. The resilience of long and short food chains: a case study of flooding in Queensland, Australia. Agriculture and Human Values. 2016;33:45-60.
- 97. Dell M. Pathways to Resilience: Obstacles and Opportunities for Small-Scale Agriculture and Local Food Systems in British Columbia. Victoria, BC: University of Victoria; 2009.
- Paci-Green R, Berardi G. Do global food systems have an Achilles heel? The potential for regional food systems to support resilience in regional disasters. Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences. 2015;5:685-98.
- 99. Biehl E, Buzogany S, Baja K, Neff R. Planning for a Resilient Urban Food System: A Case Study from Baltimore City, Maryland. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development. 2018;8:39-53.
- 100.Biehl E, Buzogany S, Huang A, Chodur G, Neff R. Baltimore Food System Resilience Advisory Report. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins Center for a Livable Future; 2017.
- 101.Zeuli K, Nijhuis A, Gerson-Nieder Z. Resilient Food Systems, Resilient Cities: A High-Level Vulnerability Assessment of Toronto's Food System. Toronto, ON: Initiative for a Competitive Inner City; 2018.
- 102.New York City Economic Development Corporation, NYC Mayor's Office of Recovery & Resiliency. Five Borough Food Flow: 2016 New York City Food Distribution & Resiliency Study Results. New York, NY: New York City Economic Development Corporation; 2016.
- 103.Zeuli K, Nijhuis A. The Resilience of America's Urban Food Systems: Evidence from Five Cities. Roxbury, MA: Initiative for a Competitive Inner City; 2017.



- 104.Bonini C. San Francisco Disaster Food System Report: Analysis and Recommendations to Advance Food Resiliency for Low-Income and Vulnerable Populations. San Francisco, CA: Walter and Elise Haas Fund; 2014.
- 105. Holling CS. Resilience and Stability of Ecological Systems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. 1973;4:1-23.
- 106. Vieira LC, Serrao-Neumann S, Howes M, Mackey B. Unpacking components of sustainable and resilient urban food systems. Journal of Cleaner Production. 2018;200:318-30.
- 107.Schipanski ME, MacDonald GK, Rosenzweig S, Chappell MJ, Bennett EM, Kerr RB, et al. Realizing Resilient Food Systems. BioScience. 2016;66:600-10.
- 108.Altieri MA, Nicholls CI, Henao A, Lana MA. Agroecology and the design of climate change-resilient farming systems. Agronomy for Sustainable Development. 2015;35:869-90.
- 109.Ashkenazy A, Calvao Chebach T, Knickel K, Peter S, Horowitz B, Offenbach R. Operationalising resilience in farms and rural regions Findings from fourteen case studies. Journal of Rural Studies. 2018;59:211-21.
- 110.Bullock JM, Dhanja-Adams KL, Milne A, Oliver TH, Todman LC, Whitmore AP, et al. Resilience and food security: rethinking an ecological concept. Journal of Ecology. 2017;105:880-4.
- 111.Cabell JF, Oelofse M. An Indicator Framework for Assessing Agroecosystem Resilience. Ecology and Society. 2012;17:18.
- 112. Chaudhary A, Gustafson D, Mathys A. Multi-indicator sustainability assessment of global food systems. Nature Communications. 2018;9:848.
- 113.Green JJ, Worstell J, Canarios C. The Local Agrifood System Sustainability/Resilience Index (SRI): Constructing a data tool applied to counties in the southern United States. Community Development. 2017;48:697-710.
- 114. International Sustainability Unit. What Price Resilience? Towards Sustainable and Secure Food Systems. London, UK: International Sustainability Unit; 2011.
- 115. Jones H, Alhomedhi A, Bishop J, Brak B, Brown R, Lukac M, et al. Diversity for resilience: multi-scale application of agro-ecology. Aspects of Applied Biology. 2013;121:17-24.
- 116.McDonald BA, Stukenbrock EH. Rapid emergence of pathogens in agro-ecosystems: global threats to agricultural sustainability and food security. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences. 2016;371:20160026.
- 117.Peterson CA, Eviner VT, Gaudin ACM. Ways forward for resilience research in agroecosystems. Agricultural Systems. 2018;162:19-27.
- 118.Remans R, Wood SA, Saha N, Anderman TL, DeFries RS. Measuring nutritional diversity of national food supplies. Global Food Security. 2014;3:174-82.
- 119.Seekell D, Carr J, Dell'Angelo J, D'Odorico P, Fader M, Gephart J, et al. Resilience in the global food system. Environmental Research Letters. 2017;12:25010.
- 120.Worstell J, Green J. Eight Qualities of Resilient Food Systems: Toward a Sustainability/Resilience Index. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development. 2017;7:1-19.
- 121.Cordell D, Neset TSS. Phosphorus vulnerability: A qualitative framework for assessing the vulnerability of national and regional food systems to the multi-dimensional stressors of phosphorus scarcity. Global Environmental Change. 2014;24:108-22.



- 122.Cordell D, White S. Tracking phosphorus security: indicators of phosphorus vulnerability in the global food system. Food Security. 2015;7:337-50.
- 123.de Amorim WS, Valduga IB, Ribeiro JMP, Williamson VG, Krauser GE, Magtoto MK, et al. The nexus between water, energy, and food in the context of the global risks: An analysis of the interactions between food, water, and energy security. Environmental Impact Assessment Review. 2018;72:1-11.
- 124. Vernooy R, Sthapit B, Otieno G, Shrestha P, Gupta A. The roles of community seed banks in climate change adaption. Development in Practice. 2017;27:316-27.
- 125. Ciccarese L, Silli V. The role of organic farming for food security: local nexus with a global view. Future of Food: Journal on Food, Agriculture and Society. 2016;4:56-67.
- 126. Government of Canada. Toward a resilient Canadian agriculture and agri-food system: adapting to climate change. Report of the Standing Committee on Agriculture. In: Standing Committee on Agriculture and Agri-Food, editor. Ottawa, ON: Government of Canada; 2018.
- 127.Ruhf KZ. Regionalism: a New England recipe for a resilient food system. Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences. 2015;5:650-60.
- 128. Chiu C, Polasub W. Economics of Southwest British Columbia Food Systems 2: Additional Commentary on Farm Finance and Employment. Richmond, BC: Kwantlan Polytechnic University Institute for Sustainable Food Systems; 2014.
- 129.Knickel K, Redman M, Darnhofer I, Ashkenazy A, Calvão Chebach T, Š mane S, et al. Between aspirations and reality: Making farming, food systems and rural areas more resilient, sustainable and equitable. Journal of Rural Studies. 2018;59:197-210.
- 130.Barthel S, Parker J, Ernstson H. Food and Green Space in Cities: A Resilience Lens on Gardens and Urban Environmental Movements. Urban Studies. 2015;52:1321-38.
- 131.City of Atlanta. Resilient Atlanta: Actions to Build an Equitable Future. Atlanta, GA: City of Atlanda; 2017.
- 132.Blay-Palmer A, Sonnino R, Custot J. A food politics of the possible? Growing sustainable food systems through networks of knowledge. Agriculture and Human Values. 2016;33:27-43.
- 133.Bulla B, Steelman T. Farming through change: using photovoice to explore climate change on small family farms. Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems. 2016;40:1106-32.
- 134. Milestad R, Westberg L, Geber U, Bjorklund J. Enhancing Adaptive Capacity in Food Systems: Learning at Farmers' Markets in Sweden. Ecology and Society. 2010;15:29.
- 135.Scherb A, Palmer A, Frattaroli S, Pollack K. Exploring Food System Policy: A Survey of Food Policy Councils in the United States. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development. 2012;2:3-14.
- 136.Gupta C, Campbell D, Munden-Dixon K, Sowerwine J, Capps S, Feenstra G, Van Soelen Kim, J. Food Policy Councils and Local Governments: Creating Effective Collaboration for Food Systems Change. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development. 2018;8:11-28.
- 137.Nova Scotia Nutrition Council, Atlantic Health Promotion Research Centre. Thought About Food? A Workbook on Food Security and Influencing Policy. Halifax, NS: Dalhousie University; 2005.
- 138.Organizational Research Services. A guide to measuring advocacy and policy. Baltimore, MD: Annie E. Casey Foundation; 2007. Available from: http://www.aecf.org/resources/a-guide-to-measuring-advocacy-and-policy/



- 139. Organizational Research Services. Pathways for change: 10 Theories to Inform Advocacy and Policy Change Efforts. 2013 [cited 2018 Oct 29]. Available from: http://www.evaluationinnovation.org/publications/pathways-change-10-theories-inform-advocacy-and-policy-change-efforts
- 140.Seed B. Summary Health Authority Food Security Indicator Scan Vancouver, BC: Provincial Health Services Authority; 2018.
- 141. Kingdon JW. Agendas, alternatives, and public policies. New York: Longman; 1995.
- 142.Quinn E, Johnson DB, Krieger J, MacDougall E, Payne E, Chan NL. Developing Local Board of Health Guidelines to Promote Healthy Food Access - King County, Washington, 2010-2012. Preventing Chronic Disease. 2015;12:E58.
- 143. Milton K, Grix J. Public health policy and walking in England—analysis of the 2008 'policy window'. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:614.
- 144.Guldbrandsson K, Fossum B. An exploration of the theoretical concepts policy windows and policy entrepreneurs at the Swedish public health arena. Health Promotion International. 2009;24:434-44.
- 145.Di Ruggiero E, Cohen JE, Cole DC, Forman L. Public health agenda setting in a global context: the International Labor Organization's decent work agenda. American Journal of Public Health. 2015;105:e58-e61.
- 146.Bradford S. The Kingdon Policy Window Model and Its Application to the New York Public Smoking Ban. Scott Bradford off on a Tangent; 2003.
- 147.Leppo K, Ollila E, Pena S, Wismar M, Cook S. Health in all policies: seizing opportunities, implementing policies. In: Health MoSAa, editor. Helsinki; 2013.
- 148. Cullerton K, Donnet T, Lee A, Gallegos D. Using political science to progress public health nutrition: a systematic review. Public Health Nutrition. 2015;19:2070-8.
- 149.Exworthy M. Policy to tackle the social determinants of health: using conceptual models to understand the policy process. Health Policy and Planning. 2008;23:318-27.
- 150.Power E. It's not a food issue; it's an income issue: Using Nutritious Food Basket Costing for Health Equity Advocacy. Submitted for publication. 2018.